2D and 3D Inkjet Printing of Biopharmaceuticals - A Review of Trends and Future Perspectives in Research and Manufacturing

By Susannah Elizabeth Evans^{*1}, Tomás Harrington², Maria Cristina Rodriguez Rivero¹, Etienne Rognin¹, Tri Tuladhar³, Ronan Daly^{*1}

[1]
Institute for Manufacturing,
Department of Engineering,
University of Cambridge (UK)
E-mail: SE - see29@cam.ac.uk, RD - rd439@cam.ac.uk

[2] Norwich Business School, University of East Anglia (UK).

[3] TriJet Ltd., Cambridge (UK)

Keywords: Inkjet, 3D printing, biopharmaceutical printing, digital manufacturing

Abstract

There is an ongoing global shift in pharmaceutical business models from small molecule drugs to biologics. This increase in complexity is in response to advancements in our diagnoses and understanding of diseases. With the more targeted approach coupled with its inherently more costly development and manufacturing, 2D and 3D printing are being explored as suitable techniques to deliver more personalised and affordable routes to drug discovery and manufacturing. In this review, we explore first the business context underlying this shift to biopharmaceuticals and provide an update on the latest work exploring discovery and pharmaceutics. We then draw on multiple disciplines to help reveal the shared challenges facing researchers and firms aiming to develop biopharmaceuticals, specifically when using the most commonly explored manufacturing routes of drop-on-demand inkjet printing and pneumatic extrusion. This includes separating out how to consider mechanical and chemical influences during manufacturing, the role of the chosen hardware and the challenges of aqueous formulation based on similar challenges being faced by the printing industry. Together, this provides a review of existing work and guidance for researchers and industry to help with the de-risking and rapid development of future biopharmaceutical products.

Table of Contents	
Section 1. Introduction	2
Section 2. Biopharmaceutical market developments	3
2.1 A shift in business models - from small molecules to biologics	3
2.2 A shift in manufacturing processes - from batch to continuous and printing	4
2.3 Regulatory considerations for 2D and 3D printing of biologics	5
Section 3 Developments and challenges in printing for biopharmaceutical applications	7
3.1 Brief overview of 2D and 3D printing by drop-on-demand and extrusion techniques.	7

3.2 Printing for pharmaceutics	8
Section 4 Shared challenges when printing biopharmaceuticals	14
4.1 Mechanical effects	14
4.2 Chemical effects	16
4.3 Printhead selection for printing biopharmaceuticals	16
4.4 Formulation for printability	18
Section 5 Conclusions	21
References	22

Section 1. Introduction

Biopharmaceuticals are inherently biological in nature and manufactured by or from living organisms involving bioprocessing techniques [1] for the prevention, treatment and diagnosis of diseases. They are categorised most commonly by the product type or therapeutic category. The product-based categories include cell, gene, and antisense therapies, monoclonal antibodies (mABs), recombinant proteins and vaccines, with mABs being the most substantial subcategory in terms of number of products in the development pipeline [2]. More generally, protein-based therapeutics, encompassing and not limited to mABs, enzymes, polyclonal antibodies and hormones are the dominant product category within the biopharmaceutical industry and will therefore be the focus of this review as we consider the shift towards digital fabrication techniques.

The biopharmaceutical industry was valued at \$186M in 2017 and is forecast to grow rapidly to \$526M by 2025 [3]. 6 of the 10 highest grossing drug products in 2017 are mABs, 2 are small molecule drugs and there was 1 vaccine, and 1 insulin product meaning 8 of the 10 are biopharmaceuticals [4]. Yet unlike their small molecule counterparts, high revenues are driven by higher unit costs rather than increased sales volumes enabling the biopharma sector to be more fragmented in nature than the small-molecule pharma counterpart. This is noted in Figure 1, which also highlights the comparative complexity of biologics and their production processes, which can result in greater batch-to-batch variability and microheterogeneity [5].



Figure 1: A comparison between manufacture, cost of manufacture [6] and product complexity within the biopharmaceutical and pharmaceutical industry for protein therapeutics and small molecule drugs.

Within the small-molecule sector, adoption of 2D and 3D printing technology has been explored for a variety of applications from system discovery through to production of pharmaceutics. It has been noted previously that for small molecules, printing technologies are most appropriate for use with relatively lower volume, higher variety products [7] and are frequently cited as a platform technology for dispensing active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs) with control over the dosage that can be fully customised for the individual patient [8]. However, advantages for the use of 2D and 3D printing technology for the deposition of protein therapeutics must also be explored and the future challenges of technology to deliver this advanced therapy must also be highlighted to direct further research and help drive a rapid adoption. In this review, recent developments in the biopharmaceutical sector will be presented, linking with the observed manufacturing trends. This will provide context and justification for a shift to exploring digitally enabled 2D and 3D printing techniques, with a focus on protein therapeutics in particular. We then draw on multiple disciplines to explore the shared challenges facing researchers and firms aiming to develop biopharmaceuticals, allowing us to highlight a pathway for future research.

Section 2. Biopharmaceutical market developments

As indicated in Figure 1, there is a significant shift in manufacturing complexity and product cost when comparing small-molecule and biological pharmaceuticals. This review firstly examines the shift in business model that is enabling this move and how this is enabling a move to 2D and 3D printing of pharmaceutics.

2.1 A shift in business models - from small molecules to biologics

While the business challenges facing the pharmaceutical industry are wide-ranging, especially in supply chain management [9]–[12], the key issue for firms is how to address declining revenues in conjunction with increasing costs. While Ehrhardt *et al.* (2012) forecast that \$400 billion of revenue could be exposed to generic competition [13], other sources estimate that the industry would lose \$150 billion to

generics between 2012 and 2018 alone [14]. Pharmaceutical companies are strategically re-assessing ways of managing costs to direct necessary investments towards specific pipelines while improving confidence in target and candidate drug selection [15]. It has been argued that firms should strategically shift their R&D investments from small to large molecule (biologic) compounds [16] to address this main challenge. One primary reason for this is the average biologic offers a greater return on investment owing to higher average peak sales and a reduced drop-off in sales following a loss of exclusivity [17]. Guarding against such drop-offs and losses of exclusivity has become a defining business case requirement for the sector, which has typically experienced 80% volume losses in the first year off-patent. In the case of Prozac, for example, there were 70% volume losses in just 45 days [18]. This shift in business model was quantified by the Tufts Center for the Study of Drug Development, finding that 15.2% of products in clinical development were biologics in 2000, but this had increased to 40% by 2012. However, from 2010-2017, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved a total of 262 new molecular entities (NMEs), excluding several diagnostic imaging agents and 1 insulin analogue, with 76% (199) of these being small molecules and only a quarter being biologics [19].

This 'patent cliff' which has come to signify the small molecule segment is now being felt in biologics, with 7 of the twenty largest biologic products having gone off patent in Europe [20]. Currently, monoclonal antibodies dominate the biologic market sales, and remains the largest technology class within the biologic pipeline [20]. These high revenue products would be expected to be top priority targets for biosimilar manufacturers. However, as of November 2016, biosimilars have been launched for only three of the seven (infliximab, insulin glargine, etanercept) with evidence of delays after patent expiry [20]. The reasons for this were identified as: cost; market opportunity; patent uncertainty; regulatory difficulties and complexity in development. It is not yet clear what will be the impact of more personalized medicines. It is anticipated this will lead to increasing manufacturing costs due to expensive (complex) processes for biologics, significant reductions in batch sizes, and a requirement to reassess traditional 'make-to-stock' supply chain models, all of which remain to be addressed.

With the current market for high volume therapeutics at saturation point, characterised by many existing options available to patients [9], it is important to note that environmental conditions are also shifting. An ageing population has seen an increase in the prevalence of chronic illnesses, such as diabetes, cardiovascular diseases and cancer [21]. There is an increasing need for new biologic-related rare disease treatments and the threat of COVID-19 type pandemics will likely spur the development of biologic vaccines [22]. With its many specificities, (niche and personalised, low volume – high variety, targeting for sub-populations) it is argued that the oncology segment may best exhibit the characteristics of next-generation therapeutics [23]. The segment is also representative of growing complexity – with more than 300,000 new cancers (excluding skin cancers) diagnosed annually in the UK, across over 200 different cancer types [24]. This is also reflected in the oncology segment fast becoming one of the major therapeutic areas in the sector, capturing 31% of all R&D effort [25], and experiencing the fastest growth compared to other therapy areas [26]. The emergence of more targeted molecular therapies has contributed to accelerated growth within the oncology market, with forecast spends expected to be circa \$74–84 billion by 2018 [23].

2.2 A shift in manufacturing processes - from batch to continuous and printing

In this section, we briefly outline how and where printing technologies may enable a shift from batch to continuous processing in biologics, and in turn may offer process patents or patent extension opportunities to help ensure competitiveness through technological disruption, such as in a recent application involving the Integrated Continuous Manufacturing of Therapeutic Protein Drug Substances [27]. It is important to note that there are a range of dosage forms, and looking at oncology as an example there is a clear segmentation between injectables/vial options and oral formats, with a notable shift in recent years towards the latter [28]. When analysing the potential impact of printing on this sector, these will have different considerations. Production processes involving injectables currently involves a series of technological and process challenges (e.g., freezing and sublimation steps), that may lead to

opportunities for radical disruptions involving printing technologies within the process [23]. Oral dose forms, on the other hand will benefit greatly from a technology disruption both in continuous (primary) manufacturing and the manufacturing of pharmaceutics.

In their review of future pharmaceutical manufacturing, Rantanen and Khinast (2015) outlined that the key enabling factor for cost-effective personalised therapies is the development of new manufacturing principles [29]. Future re-distributed and sustainable manufacturing scenarios were explored in the context of smaller, more cost-effective facilities ('continuous' processing; micro-factories, 'lab-on-achip' systems), using smaller quantities of expensive ingredients and less energy, with more control over final product quality and performance [30], [31]. Printing is a key tool called upon when developing flexible processing solutions for continuous operations and these are expected to enable personalised drug delivery systems with tailor-made dose, drug release characteristics and combinations of drug compounds based on individual needs [32]. Progress has been made with automated control via detailed mathematical models on the bench scale, and there is growing evidence that continuous bioprocessing, while still lagging behind small molecule continuous processing, is starting to catch up on the commercial scale. In 2019, Sanofi opened a US-based facility that will use digital technology for the continuous production of its Genzyme portfolio of products, which includes biologics for rare diseases, immunology, and oncology [33], [34]. With further rolls out planned in five other legacy sites, this test-bed facility aims to use end-to-end data to optimise performance and use 'real time' data to digitise supply forecasting. As well as using digital twin concepts to make process adjustments, they also plan to use these as virtual training tools, in a sense building confidence, in their processes. This \$400 million investment in digitalisation is part of its focus on biologics-based therapies, which is a reflection of Sanofi's future R&D pipeline [34].

Making medicines in less time, for twice the number of patients, and all within smaller environmental footprints is particularly relevant for unmet patient needs and affordability for low volume, high variant products. In this space, alternative processing models may be used to serve existing markets more effectively or those that have been previously considered uneconomical to serve (delivering unmet enduser needs) driven by new capabilities (such as 2D and 3D printing) that create new markets [35]. This is particularly true when treatment regimens are complex and increasingly difficult to retain profitability in manufacturing, such as for some specialised products (e.g. antiretrovirals [36]). Currently, certain volume demands are required to 'trigger' a production campaign. This process can be lengthy, with 8month delays commonly recorded between initial orders and the initial batch production. In addition to antiretrovirals, the growing oncology segment also experiences frequent supply issues when it comes to essential drugs (e.g. Methotrexate, Paclitaxel), ranking second in terms of shortages [37]. Hence, eliminating such lead-times and improving security of supply, through adopting smaller volume runs through continuous-type routes, is an area of focus when assessing attractive business propositions and technological feasibility [35]. Advances in diagnostics, information technologies and digitisation are enabling disaggregated value chains to enable personalised medicines or niche product markets for patient populations [35]. Printing processing in the biopharmaceutical sector is anticipated to enable a range of linked disruptions [30], including (1) the rapid scale-up of new niche drug products in smaller volumes, (2) novel delivery formats, with the option of late-stage personalisation and customisation, and (3) agile supply chains designed to manage the potential of significantly increased stock-keepingunits (SKUs). However, before considering the technical challenges to deliver this, it is important to review regulatory challenges.

2.3 Regulatory considerations for 2D and 3D printing of biologics

As noted already, biologics are produced through complex processes, but it is important to note that they are also difficult to certify [38]. When developing precision-medicine, the costs of meeting safety and efficacy requirements of regulatory agencies have been steadily increasing [15]. Considering the complexity of biologics and limited clinical and regulatory experience with biosimilars, a more cautious and conservative approach has been common for all product classes [39]. In line with the Genzyme

example in section 2.2, one key area currently lacking is the enabling manufacturing and testing technologies that will allow effective integration of the upstream and downstream processes to support real-time release testing (RTRT) for, as one example, therapeutic proteins. To implement a complete RTRT solution, biologic manufacturers need to consider critical attributes, such as sterility and the measurement of viral and microbial contamination. Despite these challenges, continuous and printing technologies have the potential of informing 'proof-of-concepts' that may allow the rapid test and validation of new and existing treatment approaches (e.g. controlled drug release) across a variety of disease settings and patient cohorts. Case studies for the implementation of continuous platforms have also been presented covering perspectives such as scale-down mimics, control strategies, and cost of goods analysis [40].

While advances in digital production contexts have delivered value in terms of enabling data and information exchanges, implementing analytics linked to Quality-by-Design (QbD) principles for the 'real-time' release of products has long been an ambition. Continued advances in on-line and in-line sensor technologies are key for biopharmaceutical manufacturing in achieving regulatory approval of RTRT [41], which if achieved, will be have a dramatic impact on the market especially as targeted therapies and immunotherapies are expected to make up more than 70% of treatments by 2020 [42]. For example, predictive capabilities enabling 'real-time' comparisons against 'ideal' process states could enable reduced quality control resources (no post-manufacturing testing) and potentially eliminate or reduce end-product testing times.

Interestingly, the challenging regulations also offer another opportunity to benefit from drop-ondemand printing technologies. The majority of commercially produced recombinant protein therapeutics are through mammalian host cells, particularly Chinese hamster ovary cells and murine myeloma lymphoblstoid-like (NS0 and Sp2/0-Ag14) cells [43]. Regulatory guidance references the need for recombinant proteins to be produced from a single cell source in multiple guidance documents, including the European Medicines Agency (EMA) ICH Topic Q 5 D guidance [44], in the FDA guidance on manufacture and testing of monoclonal antibody products for human use [45] and in more recent legislation from the EMA from 2016 [46]. Yet it is not only a regulatory imperative to adhere to single cell clonality, from a manufacturing perspective it is advantageous to reduce variability in the final product quality. Phenotypic drift occurs during cell culture impacting upon characteristics of certain attributes within a cell population, through single cell sourcing the variation of a given attribute is minimised [47]. For compliant production of protein therapeutics, the isolation and manipulation of single cells is a necessary manufacturing competency. Inkjet printing technology and piezo-electric actuation has been used to isolate single cells. For the specific application of ensuring single-cell cloning Cytena's Single Cell printer ensures cells are from a single source with >99.99% assurance with an automated system based on piezo-electric dispensing of cell containing droplets [48]. Further studies using piezoelectric inkjet printers have successfully isolated single cells, although not necessarily for this specific application. Adult rat ganglian and glia cells were ejected with a microfab print system, a glass capillary piezoelectric nozzle and high speed images of the cell containing droplets were presented showing a single cell in each droplet with no evidence of cell deformation upon ejection [49]. Another relevant application is the production of single cell arrays. Instead of direct dispensing of cells into a specific position, a surface is modified digitally to provide sites for cell attachment. This method removes the need to expose cells to the potentially damaging effects of inkjet printing [50], [51] but relies on the reliability of single cell attachment, with examples showing yields from 60% [52] to 80% [53].

In summary, there are a range of exciting opportunities to build capabilities in manufacturing for biologics using printing technologies, but they have more complex production processes than small molecule drugs, and tend to yield much smaller quantities with less uniform batch-to-batch equivalence and so regulatory challenges are to be expected. It is also difficult currently to scale biologics from laboratory quantities used for early analysis and pre-clinical testing to larger-scale batches while

maintaining product purity [54]. The rest of this review will examine the technical challenges identified as critical to delivering improved reliability for printing in biopharmaceuticals and show that there is a complex journey to consider from the formulation, to the processing hardware and the printing flows to ensure a final active material.

Section 3 Developments and challenges in printing for biopharmaceutical applications

In this section we examine specific applications where 2D and 3D printing are already leading to rapid developments in biopharmaceuticals, namely in biologics discovery, drug delivery by microneedles, buccal drug delivery and oral administration. After this, we will review challenges that are shared both when developing pharmaceutics or when developing printing techniques for integration into distributed or continuous manufacturing.

3.1 Brief overview of 2D and 3D printing by drop-on-demand and extrusion techniques



Figure 2: A simple representation of the key features of a drop on demand inkjet printhead and a pneumatic extrusion system.

Drop-on-demand (DoD) inkjet printers produce a single drop of ink only when required and in response to a trigger signal. Most commonly these are either piezoelectric or thermally actuated printheads, with either case providing energy to the volume of fluid close to the nozzle and enabling a drop to be created and fired towards a surface. There are a range of different actuation modes for piezoelectric driven printheads. However, in all cases they rely on the voltage applied to a piezoelectric element to drive a deformation of the actuator. This can, for example, change the volume of the ink reservoir to propagate a pressure wave and generate a droplet. Thermally actuated printers form droplets through rapid heating of the microscale resistance heaters close to a nozzle. The rapid pulsed heating drives bubble formation and collapse to create firstly a positive pressure wave through the ink resulting in droplet ejection, and a subsequent negative pressure to draw in fresh ink.

There are three commonly used actuation techniques for extrusion-based printing: pneumatic, mechanical and solenoid. Firstly, pneumatic extrusion relies on pressurised air being applied to a reservoir of ink and forcing it through a nozzle to the surface. Secondly, mechanical extrusion relies on a motor to drive a piston that then forces ink through the nozzle. Finally, there is solenoid extrusion, where a combination of pressurised air and actuation with a ferromagnetic plunger enables the ink to flow through the nozzle. Further information on inkjet [7], [55] and extrusion [56] can be found in the references detailed.

Inkjet printing or electrospray are predominantly used when printing 2D layers of biopharmaceuticals and involve the deposition of a functional material onto a substrate in an x and y axis, whereas 3D printing is used to produce layered structures that have a significant dimension. 3D printing of biologics is mostly carried out by ejecting continuous filaments of highly viscous fluids or gels, using pneumatic,

mechanical or solenoid valve actuation. Figure 2 illustrates the elements of inkjet and extrusion and Table 1 shows an overview of the key features compared for each approach. In summary, inkjet printing enables smaller feature sizes and is highly scalable by increasing the number of printheads or the number of nozzles in the selected printhead. Extrusion techniques are slower, have a lower resolution, but can manage to print with a much wider range of fluids, most commonly viscous fluids or gels containing the biologics.

	DoD Inkjet	Extrusion	Refs.
Ink5 - 20 mPasViscosity		$30 \text{ to} > 6x10^7 \text{ mPas}$	[57]–[59]
Print Speed	Print Speed Industrially, ~200m / minute. Slow, in range of cm / s Droplet ejection up to 10kHz.		[60] [61]
Nozzle Size 20 - 120 μm		>150 µm	[58] [62]
Resolution	ion 1 to > 300pl, down to $\sim 5 \ \mu m$ Spatial resolution down to 1 droplet spacing. Spatial resolution down to 1 μm , but filaments typically >100 μm wide.		[62]–[64]
Scalability	ibility High, nozzle packing density is Lower due to print speed and high due to low crosstalk between lower nozzle packing density. nozzles.		[65]
Cost	Relatively lower, in the order of \$10,000 for industrial systems	Relatively higher, \$73,000 average industrial system cost. Systems can exceed \$200,000	[66], [67]

Table 1: Features of Drop on Demand Inkjet Printing and Extrusion.

3.2 Printing for pharmaceutics

3.2.1 Discovery

The pharmaceuticals industry quickly adopted the combination of 96-well plates and robotics as a drug discovery staple, with microplates containing up to 9600 wells today. The advantages were clear: miniaturisation in both size and volume, and a reduction in processing steps to find drug candidates [68]. High throughput screening (HTS) is used extensively for protein therapeutic and small molecule drug discovery to determine the efficacy or toxicity of a drug or drug candidate. The majority of cells cultured for drug screening are in two-dimensions on stiff plastic surfaces which are not representative of in vivo conditions [69], yet drug screening based on 2D cell culture systems is used pervasively within industry as it is an economical, well-established method with high throughput capacity. In contrast, 3D cell culture, such as spheroids or scaffold-based systems [70] are more representative of the in vivo environment but are more expensive and have a relatively lower throughput capacity. For example, the results of drug screening using 3D liver models have been better at detecting in vivo drug induced toxicity [71] and with greater reliability than their 2D counterparts [72].

Inkjet printing and extrusion based bioprinting are complementary technologies that enable 2D and 3D systems to be produced for high throughput screening to support discovery. The motivation for using both systems in parallel is to reach a balance between cost, throughput and results fidelity. 2D systems are important for identifying hits, compounds that bind to a specific target, whereas 3D systems are more important for moving from hit to lead, where the binding affinity of the hit is optimised and the

in vitro efficacy and toxicity is tested [73]. It takes on average 8% longer for biopharmaceuticals to reach the market compared to traditional pharmaceuticals [74] highlighting the importance of early data collection through HTS to reduce the sunk costs. Inkjet printing, utilised predominantly for 2D systems, offers the advantage of being low cost, enabling it to be deployed in a low resource setting as demonstrated by the examples of high throughput screening platforms produced with converted desktop printers [75]–[77]. Commercial microarraying systems based on inkjet technology include the sciFLEXARRAYER utilising glass capillary nozzles [78] and the Arrayjet which uses a Xaar XJ126 piezoelectric printhead, 126 nozzles and boasts 640 features per second [79].

Protein microarrays, another 2D system, are of particular importance for biopharmaceutical drug discovery and can be split into two broad categories – functional protein microarrays and protein detecting microarrays with the former being particularly useful for the discovery of protein therapeutics when probing protein-protein interactions [80]. Alternatively, other interactions with a target protein can be investigated. For example, glycan – protein interactions were probed using an array produced with a HP Deskjet 1010 inkjet printer, this array could also be used for the synthesis of glycoconjugates that can be used for vaccines [81]. The non-contact nature of inkjet printing makes it an ideal manufacturing technique for protein microarray production because the substrates used, typically nitrocellulose or hydrogel coatings [82] [81] are fragile and production of microarrays is 10 time faster than its contacting counterpart, micro-spotting [83]. A further crucial element of protein micro arraying is to ensure that the proteins function and integrity remains unchanged. Research from 2000 demonstrated that it was possible to deposit IgG, IgM and HRP without any degradation for a protein microarray produced with a thermal inkjet printer but it raised the concern that not all biomolecules may be suitable for use with this production technique [84].

High throughput screening utilising 3D extrusion based bioprinting is particularly prevalent for anticancer drug screening demonstrating a clear application for the biopharmaceutical sector as therapeutic proteins, particularly mABs are the fastest growing anticancer treatment option [2], [85]. A variety of 3D cancer cell models intended for drug screening have been produced with extrusion based bioprinting including a co-culture of human breast adenocarcinoma (MDA-MB-231) and mouse macrophage (RAW 264.7) suitable for culture in a 96-well plate [86], spheroids of MCF-7 human breast cancer [87] and scaffolded Hela cells for a cervical tumour model where the 3D model showed greater resistance to the chemotherapy drug paclitaxel than the 2D monolayer [88]. In all of these examples the reported cell viability was >90% yet similar studies utilising extrusion based bioprinting (EBB) for cell deposition report a greater drop in cell viability. 3T3 fibroblast cell viability dropped to 60% [89] and HepG2 liver cell viability dropped to 40% immediately after extrusion recovering to 85% after 24 hours [50] which also highlights that the relative importance of when the viability measurement is taken. This further supports the need for standardised 3D culture protocols to improve results reproducibility and reliability [90] as strict regulatory requirements and extensive published evidence is required for a 3D model to be validated for pharmaceutical use and to replace an animal model [73].

For industrial adoption of EBB 3D models for high throughput screening there is a trade-off between cost, quality and speed. Smaller volumes of high value reagents can be used with 2D systems with a higher reaction throughput, whereas academic research repeatedly shows drug screening with 3D models to be more representative of cell in vivo conditions yet it is more costly and time consuming to produce [91]. More extensive use of bio-printed cell models will help alleviate the attrition of drug candidates which is estimated to be as severe as 95% failure rate for new cancer medicines [92]. A better understanding of the impact printing processes has on the resulting cell or protein function will be required to increase industrial adoption, and so will be examined later in Section 4 along with other challenges shared across applications.

3.2.2 Delivery by microneedles

The delivery of biopharmaceuticals to a patient poses many challenges due to the high molecular weight and instability of the biologic. Protein based therapeutics are at risk of structural degradation caused by physical instabilities such as mechanical stress [93] and chemical instabilities, commonly oxidation, reduction or hydrolysis [94]. Accordingly, most biopharmaceuticals are delivered intravenously to ensure high bioavailability yet this route of administration is fraught with challenges that reduce patient compliance including aversion to needles or experiencing adverse events [95]. Moreover, high viscosity drug formulations, due to the drug concentration required to achieve a therapeutic dose within volume constraints set out by the FDA, reduce the syringeability. Consequently many researchers and pharmaceutical companies are looking into alternative delivery mechanisms for biopharmaceuticals, an overview of the strategies being investigated is detailed by Mitragotri *et al.* [96]. Specifically, 2D and 3D printing techniques have been utilised for drug delivery using microneedles as well as buccal and oral delivery.

Looking firstly at microneedles, these are used for transdermal drug delivery. Arrays of narrow, short needles only penetrate the stratum corneum to prevent nerve stimulation that would cause the patient pain. Beyond being pain free, microneedles also offer the advantage of faster healing at the site of injection, reduced infection risk and increased patient compliance, particularly with needle-phobic patients. This transdermal delivery technique can increase bioavailability through avoiding first-pass metabolism observed through oral administration [97] and enabling drug uptake through the capillaries and lymphatic system. The most commonly used method to produce microneedle arrays is with a reusable micro-mould [98], however fabrication of the master, of which the mould is formed from, often utilises expensive manufacturing techniques that require specialised equipment such as UV lithography [99], micro-milling [100], chemical wet etching [101] or electrical discharge machining [102]. Additive manufacturing techniques can also be used to produce a master mould [103], [104], often at a relatively lower cost without compromising on microneedle performance. For the active delivery of IgG antibody, used as a model drug system, a positive mould was produced with stereolithography 3D printing and the release kinetics resulted in enhanced outcomes in vivo for mouse models with melanoma compared to diffusion-based microneedles [105].

To avoid the use of a mould altogether, a combination of 2D and 3D printing techniques can be used for direct fabrication of microneedles for biopharmaceutical drug delivery. Stereolithography 3D printing (SLA) has been used to produce hollow microneedles that enable hydrodynamic mixing of drug solutions and transdermal drug delivery in a single device [106]. Solid microneedles can also be produced with SLA printing and are then coated with a drug solution, typically with piezoelectric dropon-demand inkjet printing. Four different formulations of insulin were inkjet printed onto microneedles and the dissolution profile of the insulin into porcine skin in vitro was rapid for formulations with soluplus and gelatin suggesting feasibility for this delivery technique, yet circular dichroism indicated possible structural alterations of insulin for the gelatin formulation [107]. A similar fabrication technique investigated microneedles of different geometries with inkjet printed insulin sugar drug formulations, observing faster drug dissolution for larger surface area microneedles and lower blood glucose levels over 4 hours compared to conventional subcutaneous injections in mice [108]. However, positive results in animal models do not guarantee efficacy in a patient population. A clinical trial of transdermal drug delivery with microneedles of Abaloparatide, a parathyroid hormone related protein analogue drug used to treat post-menopausal osteoporosis, produced positive results for increasing bone density but more substantial results were observed for subcutaneous injections (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier:NCT01674621).

Dissolvable microneedles encapsulate a drug within a polymer matrix that dissolve upon injection to the patient. Piezoelectric inkjet printing was used to dispense clinically relevant flu vaccines into a mould. Through the use of small droplet additive manufacturing, complete wetting of the mould was

observed ensuring the resulting microneedles had sharp tips. Lower voltage jetting parameters were selected because a decrease in the vaccine integrity was observed at 80V, possibly attributable to a greater force exerted on the biomolecule with higher ejection voltages [109]. The importance of careful consideration of fabrication parameters for droplet based manufacturing of dissolvable microneedles was highlighted when the polymer drug formulation, temperature and drying conditions were optimised to retain 99.8 \pm 3.8% lysozyme activity in dissolvable microneedles [110].

The production of solid and dissolvable microneedles using 2D and 3D printing technology has been demonstrated at the research level, further research should select printheads appropriate for the production throughput required at an industrial scale, and additional work is needed to understand the impact on biologic integrity. Both of these areas will be explored further in Section 4 along with other shared challenges.

3.2.3 Buccal drug delivery

Buccal drug delivery enables drugs to diffuse through the oral mucosa directly into the bloodstream. This delivery method often utilises orodispersible films (ODFs), drug-loaded polymer films rapidly dissolving upon contact with saliva, which are of particular benefit to patients that have difficulty swallowing such as stroke patients or in paediatrics. Moreover, it is estimated that 28% of the general population have difficulty swallowing conventional tablets and medical practitioners frequently underestimate the gravity of this problem [111]. Compared to suspensions or drugs in solution, films can retain the drug in a stable format for a longer duration taking pressure off supply chains and enabling easier transportation and handling of drugs [112].

Orodispersible films are predominantly manufactured with solvent casting, but inkjet printing is an alternative production method that has been used to produce cellulose films containing clonidine hydrochloride that have better mechanical properties, tensile strength and Youngs modulus than solvent cast films [113]. Although there are no biologics delivered using ODFs with FDA approval to-date, there are many small molecule drugs delivered with ODFs including donepezil, used to treat the symptoms of Alzheimer's disease and fentanyl, a strong opioid pain reliever. Notwithstanding, many researchers are investigating the delivery of biologics with orodispersible films including insulin films produced with solvent casting [114] and films containing three model proteins lysozyme, β -galactosidase and ovalbumin produced with air and freeze drying to establish the feasibility of this delivery method for biologics [115].

Inkjet printing offers the advantage of depositing the API without making contact with the film and enables high levels of control of the dosage amount due to the picolitre-scale volume control of droplets. The deposition of lysozyme as a model protein with thermal inkjet printing has shown that the mechanical properties of the polymeric films are not affected as compared to the film prior to printing [116]. Further research is required to investigate the in vivo and in vitro dissolution profiles of biologics delivered with ODFs. A concern with using inkjet printing for protein deposition is the loss of activity of the printed protein which was observed when lysozyme was deposited for ODF production which was as severe as 70% for the lower lysozyme concentration [117]. However, as drug loading has previously been cited as a concern for the use of ODFs [113], it is not inconceivable a higher protein concentration in the ink formulation would need to be utilised, reducing the activity loss as observed with lysozyme. Similar to the concept of depositing the API onto a film as used with inkjet printing, spray drying was used to develop a novel delivery method for microparticles of the Edmonston Zagreb strain of the measles vaccines which showed promising preclinical results [118].

3.2.4 Oral Drug Delivery

The preferred route of administration for the majority of patients is oral drug delivery as it is noninvasive, pain free, and does not require professional intervention or equipment. It is the most convenient drug delivery method for patients, especially for long term, repeated dosing. The major hurdle to oral delivery of protein and peptide therapeutics is the low bioavailability, typically around 1% for this delivery method [119]. Such low bioavailability is caused by degradation due to low pH in the stomach, proteolysis in the gastrointestinal tract, poor permeability through the gastrointestinal mucosa and first pass metabolism. For instance, despite a clinical trial of orally delivered insulin showing no difference in glycaemic control for diabetic patients compared to subcutaneously delivered insulin and slightly fewer adverse events reported, there was no further development of the product due to questions regarding the commercial viability of this delivery method as a greater dose of API was required to achieve the required bioavailability [120].

Many examples of 3DP tablets exist which contain small molecule drugs as the API [121], [122]. Some notable examples include UV curable inkjet printed ropinirole hydrochloride tablets [123] and extruded bilayer tablets of Mucinex [124] with printing technologies seen as a platform for personalised medicine by tailoring the dosage to the individual [125]. Moreover, these tablets extend beyond research as Aprecia Pharmaceuticals produced the first FDA approved 3DP tablet containing levetiracetam to treat epilepsy in 2015. The Zipdose technology enables high drug loading, up to 1000mg showing a potential benefit for biopharmaceutical applications [126].

The novelty of 3DP tablets could be a cause for concern in regard to patient acceptability. However, a study examining patient acceptability of 3DP tablets showed that the greatest preference was for torous shaped tablets, even above conventional discs [127]. Not only the views of adults have been examined but also patient acceptability within a paediatric population who would particularly benefit from the greater dosage flexibility 3DP tablets offer and the potential to easily produce chewable tablets [128]. Such studies have shown encouraging results that paediatric patients would accept 3DP tablets, particularly in the case of polypharmacy, where a single tablet contains more than one API [129]. These are promising indicators for the wider acceptance of 3DP medicines.

Research has focused on strategies to improve the bioavailability of tablets and oral delivery devices through improving the release profile of the therapeutic or extending the circulation lifetime in vivo [130]. 2D and 3DP can be used to produce oral dosage forms for biopharmaceuticals with most studies demonstrating a feasibility for these manufacturing techniques to be used for this application. Microcontainers filled with 100ng doses of insulin have been produced with inkjet printing and >94% of the deposited insulin remained intact [131]. The study demonstrated the ability to change the release profile of the API, insulin, by modifying the formulation of the microcontainers and the polymer, Eudragit S 100 was able to withstand a pH below 7, however bioavailability data was not present. A novel 3DP technique based on extrusion of two liquid co-polymers examined the release profile of two model systems, prednisone and BSA. Although the results demonstrated a feasibility of producing customisable pills containing a protein therapeutic, only 40% of the BSA contained within the pill was released and modifications to the ink formulation need to be made to achieve a higher printing resolution and improve the drug release kinetics [132]. Table 2 gives an overview of some of the achieved dosages of printed drug delivery devices detailed in Section 3.

Ref	API dosage	Ink	Dosage Dispensed	Application
[107]	Insulin \sim 40 units / day = \sim 0.0347 mg * 40 = 1.388mg / day	4 formulations: POX(poly(2- oxazoline) 5mg /Insulin 10ml gelatin (porcine skin) 5mg/Insulin 10ml trehalose dehydrate 5mg/Insulin 10ml Soluplus 5mg/Insulin 10ml.	$110 \pm 10\mu g$ per needle and 50 needles per cm ² . 6 droplets of 300pl every 50 μ m dispensed, 50 cycles. Would need ~ 12 needles to supply dosage.	IJ coated microneedles for transdermal insulin delivery
[108]	Insulin \sim 40 units / day = \sim 0.0347 mg	3DP microneedles: biocompatible Class I resin, Dental SG IJ: insulin (10mg/ml) sugar - insulin:xylitol (5:1 wt/wt), insulin: mannitol (5:1 wt/wt)	350μg, 10 units, insulin per array (48 needles).	3DP printed microneedles with IJ API coating for

Table 2: Details of printed drug delivery devices and the respective API dosage achieved.

	* 40 = 1.388mg / day	and insulin:trehalose (5:1 wt/wt) as 2% solid content.		transdermal insulin delivery
[109]	Hemagglutinin H1 A/California/7/2009 15µg dosage, twice 4 weeks apart	Aqueous solutions of trehalose dihydrate (Cargill), PVA 13–88 (Kuraray), polysorbate 80 purchased from Sigma Aldrich	Microneedles did not contain any active vaccine.	Inkjet printing into moulds to form dissolvable microneedles.
[133]	Insulin ~ 40 units / day = ~ 0.0347 mg * 40 = 1.388mg / day	Inkjet - three coating formulations were used, consisting of insulin:xylitol (5:1 wt/wt), insulin: mannitol (5:1 wt/wt) and insulin:trehalose (5:1 wt/wt) as 2% solid content 3DP - biocompatible Class I resin, Dental SG, procured by Formlabs.	350µg, 10 units, insulin per array (48 needles).	3DP printed microneedles with IJ API coating for transdermal insulin delivery
[134]	Cyclosporine A = 10mg/kg for oral dosage in rats.	CsA (100 mg) and HPC-SSL (1900 mg) were dissolved in 1,4- dioxane. The solute concentration was 2% (w/v).	100% dosage for weight of rat dosed for.	Preparation of amorphous solid dispersion for oral delivery.



Figure 3: a) Digital photograph of a combinatorial dissolvable microneedle patch loaded with FITC (passive delivery compartment) and Rh6G + Mg particles (active delivery compartment). Scale bar, 5 mm [105] (reprinted with permission from John Wiley & Sons, Inc. b) SEM image of 1.5 mm needleto-needle distance microneedle array basin before filling [103] (open access) c) SEM image of 3d printed PEG4-PCL-SC gel pill incorporating prednisone and bovine serum albumin [132] (reprinted with permission from Elsevier) d) SEM of air dried pullulan ODF, e) freeze dried pullulan ODF and f) 40/60 trehalose/pullulan weight ratio freeze dried ODF [115] (open access).

Some examples of printed drug delivery devices are shown in Figure 3. As noted throughout Section 3, there are a range of challenges that are commonly appearing. The potential mechanical effects on large molecules during printing, the chemical effects upon interaction with surfaces or during drying, the hardware selection and the challenges in formulation are all noted. And will be examined in turn in Section 4.

Section 4 Shared challenges when printing biopharmaceuticals

The application of 2D and 3DP technology within the biopharmaceutical industry is still predominantly at the research stage for pharmaceutics with a few industrial examples within the aforementioned applications. To accelerate industrial adoption, technical challenges must be overcome and researched further. These can broadly be categorised into mechanical effects, chemical effects, printhead and ink formulation considerations.

4.1 Mechanical effects

The effect of hydrodynamics shear forces on biomolecules has been a recurring concern in the bioprocessing industry [135]. Such effects can be categorised in three types: denaturation, aggregation and scission. Flow-induced denaturation occurs by misfolding after unfolding by viscous forces. Aggregation can be caused by partial unfolding exposing hydrophobic groups or can be a long-term consequence of denaturation. In addition, extremely high strain rates can induce molecular mechanical scission.

4.1.1 Flow-induced denaturation and aggregation

In nature, some proteins are very sensitive to hydrodynamic shear. For example, the van Willebrand Factor (vWF) is a high molecular weight protein in excess of 20 MDa which unfolds in blood stream in an event of a cut and helps the formation of platelet plugs [136]. *In-vitro* experiments report unfolding at elongational strain rates below 10^3 s^{-1} [137]. On the other hand, studies have shown shear-induced aggregation of pathogenic amyloids [138]–[140]. In addition, other flow-induced aggregation pathways have been considered for the biomimetic production of silk [141], [142].

Nevertheless, the role of hydrodynamic shear on protein unfolding or aggregation is still a subject of debate [143], [144]. Interfaces such as liquid-solid or liquid-air interfaces have also been shown to account for protein degradation, while decoupling this effect from the flow field is difficult. In recent studies carried with elongational flows, some authors report a negligible role of shear [145], while others emphasise that role [146]–[149]. Strain rates in excess of 10⁴ s⁻¹ are investigated, however this is still an order of magnitude below strain rates encountered in inkjet.

Even if no aggregation is observed, a conformation change could imply activity loss for enzymes. Studies of enzymes activity after high mechanical stress are also contradictory and depend strongly on the type of enzyme and type of shear [150]. Lencki *et al.* (1993) [151] and Ouyang and Barati (2014) [152] have reported a loss in enzymatic activity as shear stress increases, Edwards *et al.* (2010) [153] no effect of shear, and Ohno *et al.* (1995) [154] an enhanced activity upon shear.

Similar contradictory results are observed for studies investigating the impact inkjet printing has on the retained activity of inks containing enzymes. Two notable examples of such discrepancies relate to the ejection of horse radish peroxidase (HRP) and lysozyme. One custom piezoelectric actuated printer made of poly(tetrafluoroethylene) tube resulted in 30% retained activity of HRP [155], whereas ejection with a Dimatix DMP 2800 printhead saw a statistically insignificant loss in activity [57]. With lysozyme, using a thermal inkjet printer retained activity was as low as 30% [117] but up to 85% with a Dimatix Sapphire QS–256/80 AAA 80pL printhead [156].

4.1.2 Flow-induced scission

For random coil molecules such as DNA-RNA polymers, strong fluid flows can cause scission. This phenomenon has been extensively studied for DNA flowing though microfluidic contractions [157] [158], but is also encountered with high molecular weight polymers in general [159].

Yet, both continuous and drop-on-demand inkjet can be linked to polymer scission experiments, due to a contraction flow through the nozzle. There is also a purely extensional flow in the filament when a

drop is formed. Small nozzle diameters are typically in the range of 20 μ m to 60 μ m, and the velocity of the droplet is of the order of 10 m/s. A-Alamry *et al.* (2011) [160] reported the degradation of PMMA and PS during a DOD print. Molecular weights between 10⁵ Da and 10⁶ Da led to chain scission. [161] further analysed this result and showed that the polymer could break only in the nozzle and not in the filament where the extensional rate is too low. Finally, Wheeler *et al.* (2014) [162] compared CIJ and DOD in terms of polymer degradation. They concluded that, even though CIJ displayed the same strain rate magnitude, degradation occurred in the recirculation system of the ink and not in the nozzle.

4.1.3 Models and scaling laws

Regarding polymers including DNA strands, models and scaling laws have been developed for flowinduced scission, based on the concept that a critical strain rate can be defined above which scission occurs. This critical strain rate has been found to be a function of the backbone strength, molecular weight, concentration, solvent quality and turbulence or laminar nature of the flow [163]–[166]. On the other hand, modelling and theoretical aspects of flow-induced unfolding of proteins have been limited to lower molecular weights than experimental studies, detailed in Figure 4, and is still an active field of research. Even the concept of a critical strain rate has been questioned in experiments where strain instead of strain rate seemed to dominate the unfolding behaviour [167]. Unravelling random coiled polymer requires overcoming entropic forces which are primarily agnostic to the chemistry of the polymer, hence the possibility of modelling general trends. By contrast, folded proteins are stabilised by strong internal enthalpic interactions which depend on their amino acids sequence. This makes general interpretations a very difficult task. Nevertheless, simulations using Molecular Dynamics (MD) methods have been used to study specific proteins under flow. Unfolding simulations are commonly done in a steered approach, where the two ends of the proteins are pulled apart. The resulting force-extension curve can be compared to force spectroscopy experiments [168]. To be more relevant to flow-induced unfolding, other methods have been proposed, such as tethered MD, where one end of the protein is anchored while solvents molecules are flowing past, and free flow MD, where a shear flow in induced in the simulation box and the protein is free to move [169]–[173]. However, only few studies have analysed the refolding outcome after the flow is switched off, although in the context of manufacturing it would be crucial to quantify the degree of irreversibility and production of non-native states after a shearing event [170].



Figure 4: a) the molecular weights of approved protein therapeutics, data from - [174] b) The molecular weights of proteins examined in experiments or molecular dynamics simulations detailed in Section 4 indicating whether shear flow had a detrimental effect on the protein (yes) or the protein was unaffected (no).

4.2 Chemical effects

Protein therapeutics are susceptible to degradation due to chemical effects which must be carefully considered to ensure preservation of expensive biopharmaceutical APIs. This section will firstly briefly consider the detrimental impact the material choice of printing equipment can have on protein therapeutics through adsorption then briefly examine the impact of ink drying after deposition.

4.2.1 Protein Adsorption

Proteins will adsorb to surfaces when the Gibbs free energy of the system, G, decreases as a result of the adsorption. Equation 1 states the conditions for protein adsorption to occur, H is the enthalpy, T is temperature and S is entropy.

$$\Delta_{adsorption}G = \Delta_{adsorption}H - T\Delta_{adsorption}S < 0$$
¹

Proteins can absorb to surfaces of the ancillary equipment or printhead in an IJ system resulting in a reduction in concentration of the final printed solution. Poncin–Epaillard *et al.* (2012) stored the recombinant human prion protein in tubes of different materials for 24 hours at 4°C. Each of the polymers tested experienced a reduction in the amount of protein recovered with poly(tetrafluoroethene) performing the worst with 33% recovery compared to storage in an ultra–low temperature freezer [175]. To reduce protein losses, a coating of a sacrificial protein, such as bovine serum albumin (BSA), can be used [176]. Alternatively, ancillary equipment material should be coated with hydrophilic polymers, such as PEG or poly(methyl methacrylate), PMMA, to reduce electrostatic forces and hydrophobic interactions between the proteins and the surface [177], [178]. As protein therapeutics are costly losses due to adsorption on the printhead or ancillary equipment can be a deterrent to using printing processes in manufacturing.

4.2.3 Drying

The majority of FDA approved protein therapeutics are in the liquid state and required cold chain storage between 2-8°C which has major implications on supply chain costs [179]. Through lyophilisation, drug products can be stored within a more favourable temperature range, $0 - 25^{\circ}$ C and remain stable for a greater duration, such as the mAB Nucala sold under the trade name Mepolizumab. However, drying processes can result in structural damage to the dried protein despite the gains in storage stability [180]. 2D and 3D printing of protein therapeutics for buccal and transdermal delivery dried the active protein, careful consideration of the ink formulation is required to prevent structural damage. In a broader sense, because printing technologies can dispense picolitre scale volumes through droplet-based manufacturing, air drying will be rapid. The use of sugars and glycerol as a humectant aim to stabilise the protein and ensure moisture is retained but the impact these excipients have on the rheology of the inks must also be considered and how they affect the printability.

4.3 Printhead selection for printing biopharmaceuticals

There is a discontinuity between the review of industry and literature presented so far. There are clear needs in the biopharmaceutical industry that can be addressed with a shift towards inkjet printing in manufacturing. However, the vast majority of technological developments in 2D and 3D printing described so far, that are hoping to enable such progress, are carried out through rigorous scientific studies at the lab scale using research-scale printheads. Supporting infra-technologies have to develop in parallel if digital fabrication is to become a reality. In this section we first look at where industrial printing technologies have successfully been employed in biopharmaceutical printing before, secondly, looking at the current direction of industrial printhead development, before concluding with comments about what research and activities need to be considered now to enable a smooth transition to full scale biopharmaceutical printing applications.

The most advanced area for printing biopharmaceuticals is in microarray printing applications. The contactless printing devices found in industrial use are based on a variety of techniques, ranging from piezoelectric drop-on-demand to acoustic or solenoid-valve actuation. Firms have developed their own solutions and not relied on original equipment manufacturers (OEM), who dominate other areas of digital printing. Some examples of these companies include Cellink, Biodot and Arrayjet.

Cellink printing devices use proprietary technologies; I-DOTTM (Immediate Drop on Demand Technology) for liquid handling and BIO XTM for bioprinting. Their I-DOT system [181], developed by Dispendix GmbH (acquired by Cellink in 2018) uses a pressure-based dispensing technology. There are nozzle sizes available in the range of 60-200µm, 8 individual channels firing at 100 Hz and it can handle liquids of viscosities ranging from 1 to 100 mPa.s. Cellink has also recently acquired Scienion AG and their dispensing portfolio, which includes piezoelectric DoD technology [182]. This has individual channels with inert glass capillaries that are easily exchangeable, with sizes featuring drops from 100 to 800 pL (viscosity limited to 5 mPa.s) and 25nL -1µL (viscosity limited to 22mPa.s). Cellink integrates these printheads into various manufacturing scales, such as reel-to-reel operation systems like the sciFLEXARRAYER S100 [183]. Cellink's selection of bioprinting devices are mostly based on pneumatic control, with its closest analogous to inkjet being its BIO X EMD (Electromagnetic Droplet).

BioDot also employs proprietary technologies, including the BioJetTM Non-Contact Nanoliter to Microliter Solenoid Dispenser for single droplet volumes of 1.3 nL- 1 μ L, based on a high-speed micro solenoid valve, and PolyJetTM with pneumatic actuation for viscous fluids (stated up to 1,000 mPa.s). In addition, they have developed piezoelectric-based technologies for lower volume deposition. Their UltraTM Picoliter to Nanoliter Piezo Dispenser, described as a "true non-contact picoliter liquid handling and spotting solution with drop-on-demand capability", reaches volumes from 100 pL to 1.0 nL [184]. Their Rainmaker system allows higher frequencies than their Ultra Piezo Dispensers, not being very specific with "a wide range of volumes as a single drop or a high frequency burst" [185]. These are all designed to integrate into a wide range of motion platforms, conveyor belt and reel to reel systems, making them suitable for continuous production.

Arrayjet microprinters took a different approach and mounted a Xaar XJ126 piezoelectric print head into their system. This range of printheads was originally designed with printed graphics in mind and are relatively mature printhead technologies, having launched in 2003 [186]. Arrayjet states a dispensing volume of 100 pL to 10 nL with 100 pL increments [187].

In summary these existing, commercialised printing devices process droplet volumes in the order of 100 pL - 50 nL and can achieve feature sizes of about $90 - 500 \mu m$. Some of the ejecting devices can handle viscosities up to 400 mPa.s, as the nozzle sizes are quite large. They can access low frequencies (of the order of 600 Hz or 100 Hz per channel respectively for [187], [184]) and slightly higher frequencies (up to 1500 Hz [188]). Importantly, some of these dispensing heads are designed so that every nozzle has an individual liquid channel to minimize cross contamination [189], [190] This is not something observed in standard OEM drop-on-demand printheads.

Contrary to these technologies described above, the most recent trends for DoD commercial printheads manufactured by large format printer makers or by OEMs such as Fujifilm Dimatix, Xerox, Canon, Epson, Seiko, HP, Konica Minolta, Xaar, Kyocera, Ricoh, Panasonic, or Toshiba, show a move to features of finer resolutions with drop volumes of the order of 5-30 pL, closer packing density of the jet orifices, and homogenising inks with recirculation ink supply systems of large volumes.

There is not a clear approach visible in the literature from established inkjet printhead manufacturers towards the design of devices to match the range of characteristic features needed for printing biopharmaceuticals. Nozzle size, nozzle pitch or printing frequency seem to be going against the trends that we have described from manufacturers such as Arrayjet, Biodot or Cellink. Trends show an increasing number of nozzles and decreasing nozzle size to improve printing resolution. As noted earlier

in Section 4, this decreasing nozzle size will only increase the likelihood of detrimental stresses on biomolecules or shear-induced aggregation. Furthermore, most piezoelectric inkjet printheads (this concept does not apply for thermal inkjet where a tuneable waveform as in piezo- inkjet is not possible) are making the most of the versatility and fast response of the piezo crystals to develop greyscale capabilities, which, contrary to binary printheads, can produce droplets of various sizes by fine tuning the input electric signals. However, this mechanism does not currently seem to be needed in printing biopharmaceuticals, where a binary system should suffice, indicating that thermal inkjet can still be as good as a solution as piezo DoD.

Printing frequencies are also being continuously increased in the newest DoD printheads, with Ricoh or Xaar printheads suitable for handling aqueous inks with 14-30 kHz [191], and up to 100 kHz [192] respectively, which approach printing frequencies that may be damaging to some biomolecules [193]. Thermal inkjet printheads reach frequencies of the order of 10 kHz (12-18 kHz for 2.5 HP Technology [194]). There is one notable exception from HP, the HP D300e Digital Dispenser based on thermal inkjet that initially addressed microarray printing for high-throughput screening of pharmaceuticals and has since been improved to print water-based biomolecules such as proteins, DNA and lipids [195]. This product is commercialised by a partnering company of automated laboratory solutions, Tecan Group Ltd. The HP D300e Digital Dispenser can mount two types of printing cassettes, with which it can handle up to four or up to eight fluids (4 or 8 individual channels respectively). Its technical specifications state a minimum dispensing volume of 11 pL which should be the minimum drop volume [196].

There is some history in academic researchers using industrial printheads for bio-based 2D patterning and 3D scaffolding applications, where higher resolution and complex patterns are required. These applications range from the manufacture of orodispersable biopharmaceutical forms (HP thermal inkjet printers widely used for these, and detailed explanation of their modifications generally given [197], [198], [116]) and biosensors (with printers by Olivetti [199], Canon EPSON, Dimatix, etc. [200], [201]) to complex 3D structures for regenerative medicine [202]. However, while these techniques show good scalability, they prevent a shift to continuous manufacturing because of the need to refill or replace printing cartridges.

Finally, it is important to consider trends in throughput, if this technology is to reach an industrial scale. Arrayjet, Cellink I-DOT and Cellink sciDROP PICO appear to have throughputs on the order of 50-100 μ L/s, 6.4 - 40 μ L/s and 16nL/s - 9.6 μ L/s respectively. The XaarXJ126, shows the highest ejected volume from these products but achieves this through the greatest number of nozzles. In the case of the thermal-based HP D300e Digital Dispenser, we estimate the throughput to be on the order of 8 μ L/s. If we compare these values with graphics-focused industrial printheads, we can see the MH2620 Ricoh printhead under typical printing conditions obtains a flow rates on the order of 240 μ L/s. In the case of industrial thermal inkjet printheads, the HP TIJ 4.0 family suitable for aqueous inks can print with throughputs of 456.2 μ L/s.

During this review, there has not been evidence of detailed analyses of the interaction of printing devices with the biopharmaceutical inks and the tuning of formulations to deliver the level of printability required for reliable manufacturing. This is a key part of inkjet printing and so we have included here the main considerations when formulating an aqueous ink, before concluding how it may be impacted by the need to ensure no detrimental effects on the biopharmaceuticals.

4.4 Formulation for printability

The previous section noted the range of current printheads reported in the literature for printing biopharmaceuticals. Formulation of inks to ensure printability needs to be integrated into printhead choice activities. Narrowing the field to suitable printheads is based on application requirements and

especially the key factors of speed, resolution, print frequency and fluid type. In addition, when formulating non-standard inks or relying on inks not designed by printhead manufacturers, it is vital to consider the waveform licensing policy of the printhead suppliers. Some manufacturers have open policies, allowing users to create and optimise the drive waveforms that allow tuning of the drop printing. This is important for new formulations to broaden the operating window for reliable printing. When jetting aqueous fluids, as is almost entirely the case for biopharmaceuticals, it is important to consider compatibility of printheads, as these relatively high conductivity fluids can create issues internally where electrodes are exposed. Finally, when considering printheads, the pumping capacity needs to be considered in conjunction with the internal architecture. Within each printhead type, there will be a unique channel geometry feeding the nozzles. These architectures dictate the forces experienced by biopharmaceuticals and the potential for degradation, as noted in Section 4.1. This is especially important when considering if the fluid will pass through the printing system once or if there will be a recirculation, as it has been shown that large molecules do progressively breakdown with multiple passes through high shear environments.

With a shortlist of application-suitable printheads in mind, printability and formulation can be considered in more detail. The term printability is used when assessing the properties of the ink when predicting how suitable the formulation is for a given print system. There are limitations on the printable ink for inkjet and extrusion and printability is defined differently for both manufacturing techniques. For inkjet printing, widely accepted guidelines are based on the dimensionless Ohnesorge and Reynolds numbers, shown in Figure 5, however it must be stressed that the capabilities of inkjet printing often extend beyond the limits shown as demonstrated by studies that have printed water, which has Oh~0.012 [203].



Figure 5: the region within which fluids are considered to be printable based on values of the dimensionless groups the Reynolds and Ohnesorge number [204]. Represented with permission from Elsevier.

However, more recent research has re–examined the region considered to be printable and defined it in terms of the Weber number and Z number, the inverse of the Ohnesorge number. The printable region has been expanded to 0.3 < Z < 700, equivalent to 0.0014 < Oh < 3.33 in comparison to the range shown in Figure 6 and data verifies printability in this range between 1 < Z < 40 or 0.025 < Oh < 1 [205]. This is promising for the adoption of inkjet printing technologies within the biopharmaceutical industry as this enables a greater range of ink formulations to be used. In practise, the requirements for the bulk fluid properties of an ink, such as viscosity and surface tension, are detailed within a specific printhead specification. Such properties will depend upon the printhead architecture and the fluid path of the ink. Even if an ink falls within these boundaries, the ink may not be able to produce stable jetting with the desired droplet volume, velocity and print frequency. Unlike the bulk property specifications, the

required dynamic properties, such as viscoelasticity of the ink, are not mentioned in the printhead specification. In the absence of this information, extensive reformulation and jetting optimisation are required for each ink and printhead to achieve satisfactory printing. Optimisation of the high frequency linear viscoelasticity and the non-linear viscoelasticity, shear and extensional behaviours are required and are vital for effective ink formulation. This is typically achieved through using mechanical and capillary rheometers to characterise the ink shear rheology, Piezo Axial Vibrator (PAV) and filament stretching tools to assess the high frequency viscoelasticity and extensional rheology to provide an efficient, fast screening of ink formulation.



Figure 6: defines a region for the jetting parameters and fluid properties to be able to produce a stable single droplet during inkjet printing using the inverse of the Ohnesorge number and the Weber number [205]. Represented with permission from AIP Publishing.

For biopharmaceutical applications, inks are typically aqueous with surfactants added to reduce the high surface tension to 20-30s mN/m, and viscosity modifiers added to improve printability. The biggest challenge of jetting aqueous ink is the lower nozzle open time requiring frequent cleaning of the printhead nozzles. Humectants are used to improve nozzle open time by reducing ink drying on the nozzle. Humectants however also slow the drying of the ink on the substrate affecting the output and print quality. In formulation, it is a delicate balance of humectant concentration to achieve higher nozzle open time and at the same time faster drying on the substrate. Glycerol, a humectant, is frequently added to ink formulations containing proteins in a concentration exceeding 10 wt% [81], [116], [117], perhaps due to its extensive use as a protein stabiliser for solutions undergoing freeze-thaw cycles, yet a study examining the effect of viscosity modifiers on the model enzyme HRP shows a loss of activity for inks containing >10wt% glycerol concentrations they impair activity and denature enzymes [207]. This emphasises that careful consideration must be given to viscosity modifiers used for biopharmaceutical ink formulations and alternative polymers can be used as cryoprotectants for protein solutions [208]. A balance must be struck between printability and the resulting bioactivity.

The novelty of EBB means that there is yet to be a standardised protocol to define printability which is ambiguous and makes it difficult to make cross-study comparisons. Notwithstanding the printability of EBB is often divided into the categories of 1) extrudability, (2) filament classification, (3) shape fidelity and (4) printing accuracy [209]. Extrudability concerns the force needed to push the bioink through the nozzle at a given flow rate. Filament classification considers the quality of the extruded filament before deposition. Shape fidelity looks at the entire print and assesses how much the printed structure deviates from the shape that was intended to be printed. Print accuracy assesses how well the chosen printing parameters perform for achieving the intended shape, size and location of a construct. Shape fidelity

and printing accuracy are similar metrics, but shape fidelity is often studied using multiple bioinks whereas printing accuracy will focus on the parameters for a specific bioink.

Section 5 Conclusions

In this review, the business case for pharmaceutical companies to shift their focus towards biopharmaceutical development and production has been explored. The use of 2D and 3D printing techniques as enabling technologies has been examined, specifically the opportunities and challenges for more extensive adoption of these technologies for uses surrounding protein therapeutics. The commercial motivation to focus more on biologics rather than small molecules is clear: greater returns on R&D expenditure and exclusivity in product sales, yet these benefits do not come without challenges. The increased complexity of biologics means their manufacture is less straight forward than their small molecule counterparts; increased batch to batch variation is of great concern and regulatory constraints are even more stringent. However, the shift towards continuous and digital manufacturing, seen in both the pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical industries, enables increased product yields through elimination of batch-to-batch variation. This shift is complemented by 2D and 3D printing technologies, particularly through late-stage customisation and scale up of small volume drug products.

The adoption of 2D and 3DP technologies is evident from system discovery to pharmaceutics and smart packaging applications. Challenges that impede more extensive industrial usage of these technologies are not unique to specific applications and can be broadly categorised into considerations of the ink or printhead. There is a clear theme within academic research of ensuring the biomolecule integrity within the ink is retained across all applications. To address this concern, a more systematic understanding of the impact 2D and 3D printing techniques have on protein therapeutics structure and function is required rather than examination on a case-by-case basis, not neglecting the impact of excipients and carrier fluids as well. Moreover, research into ink formulation must focus on both printability of inks and the resulting efficacy of the printed protein therapeutic. The various proof of concepts of biopharmaceutical drug delivery devices seen in the literature are an important first step in progressing 2D and 3D printing uptake within the industry, but there are very few examples utilising printheads appropriate for use at scale. There is a need for more multi-printhead studies with biopharmaceutical inks to help bridge this gap between proof of concept and production at scale as each printing setup and ink formulation is tailored to a specific printhead. Moreover, the range of protein therapeutics deposited with 2D and 3DP is limited, typically insulin or low molecular weight peptides, despite the largest biopharmaceutical product category being mABs with molecular weights that are orders of magnitude greater. This has implications for the integrity of the biopharmaceutical which emphasises just how interconnected the challenges of ink formulation and printhead selection are. To transition from research to industrial adoption of printed biopharmaceuticals, a wider range of inks containing protein therapeutics must be examined and studies need to progress towards clinical trials. Further research in these areas is needed to advance 2D and 3DP from the lab to a commercial scale, and it is clear that from the many interdependencies that the future of printing biopharmaceuticals needs to closely link the applicationfocused manufacturing challenges with the lab-based experimental set-up at an early stage, to ensure successful translation.

From our perspective, 2D and 3DP of protein therapeutics is particularly important for enabling more efficient and productive system discovery, particularly due to the escalating costs of drug discovery. Printed biopharmaceutical drug delivery devices are still in their relative infancy, but through more extensive research in the field it is highly likely that these devices will follow in the footsteps of their small molecule counterparts once the key challenges surrounding ink formulation, printhead selection and protein integrity are researched further. Although proof of concepts pave the way to greater industrial interest and adoption, scaling up should not be dismissed at this early stage of research to ensure these manufacturing techniques are economically viable in the future.

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge the support of the UK Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council Doctoral Training Partnerships, EPSRC (EP/S009000/1) and BBSRC (BB/T011750/1).

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Susannah Elizabeth Evans: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing - Original Draft, Review & Editing.

Tomás Harrington: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing - Original Draft

Maria Cristina Rodriguez-Rivero, Etienne Rognin, Tri Tuladhar: Investigation, Writing - Original Draft.

Ronan Daly: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing - Review & Editing, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition.

References

- [1] R. A. Rader, "(Re)defining biopharmaceutical," Nat. Biotechnol., vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 743–751, 2008.
- [2] America's Biopharmaceutical research companies, "Medicines in development: Biologics," *Med. Dev. Biol.*, pp. 1–24, 2013, doi: 10.1089/apc.1989.3.4.
- [3] S. Shaikh and P. Jaiswal, "Biopharmaceuticals Market Size, Share and Industry Analysis | 2025." https://www.alliedmarketresearch.com/biopharmaceutical-market (accessed Sep. 10, 2020).
- [4] L. Urquhart, "Market watch: Top drugs and companies by sales in 2017," *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.*, vol. 17, no. 4, p. 232, 2018, doi: 10.1038/nrd.2018.42.
- [5] M. Weise, P. Kurki, E. Wolff-Holz, M. C. Bielsky, and C. K. Schneider, "Biosimilars: The science of extrapolation," *Blood*, vol. 124, no. 22, pp. 3191–3196, 2014, doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-06-583617.
- [6] J. Gooch, F. Cordes, F. Bressau, and P. Berk, "WHAT DOES—AND DOES NOT—DRIVE BIOPHARMA COST PERFORMANCE The Hidden Value of Scale," 2017, [Online]. Available: http://image-src.bcg.com/Images/BCG-What-Does_and-Does-Not_Drive-Biopharma-Cost-Performance-July-2017_tcm9-164210.pdf.
- [7] R. Daly, T. S. Harrington, G. D. Martin, and I. M. Hutchings, "Inkjet printing for pharmaceutics A review of research and manufacturing," *Int. J. Pharm.*, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.03.017.
- [8] M. Alomari, F. H. Mohamed, A. W. Basit, and S. Gaisford, "Personalised dosing: Printing a dose of one's own medicine," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 494, no. 2, pp. 568–577, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.12.006.
- [9] N. Shah, "Pharmaceutical supply chains: Key issues and strategies for optimisation," *Comput. Chem. Eng.*, vol. 28, no. 6–7, pp. 929–941, 2004, doi: 10.1016/j.compchemeng.2003.09.022.
- [10] C. L. Rossetti, R. Handfield, and K. J. Dooley, "Forces, trends, and decisions in pharmaceutical supply chain management," *Int. J. Phys. Distrib. Logist. Manag.*, vol. 41, no. 6, pp. 601–622, 2011, doi: 10.1108/09600031111147835.
- [11] N. Susarla and I. A. Karimi, "Integrated supply chain planning for multinational pharmaceutical enterprises," *Comput. Chem. Eng.*, vol. 42, pp. 168–177, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.compchemeng.2012.03.002.
- [12] S. A. Narayana, R. Kumar Pati, and P. Vrat, "Managerial research on the pharmaceutical supply chain -A critical review and some insights for future directions," J. Purch. Supply Manag., vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 18–40, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.pursup.2013.09.001.
- [13] "Five Steps toward a Revitalized Pharmaceutical Supply Chain." https://www.strategybusiness.com/article/00094?gko=adbe8 (accessed Sep. 17, 2020).
- [14] L. Cecere and R. Denman, "Supply Chain Metrics That Matter: A Focus on the Pharmaceutical Industry," *Supply Chain insights LLC*, p. 21, 2015.
- [15] M. R. Barnes *et al.*, "Lowering industry firewalls: Pre-competitive informatics initiatives in drug discovery," *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.*, vol. 8, no. 9, pp. 701–708, 2009, doi: 10.1038/nrd2944.
- [16] E. Waltz, "It's official: biologics are pharma's darlings," *Nat. Biotechnol.*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 117–117, 2014, doi: 10.1038/nbt0214-117.
- [17] E. David, T. Tramontin, and R. Zemmel, "The road to positive R&D returns," 2010.

https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/pharmaceuticals-and-medical-products/our-insights/the-road-to-positive-r-and-38d-returns# (accessed Sep. 17, 2020).

- [18] M. P. Singh, "The pharmaceutical supply chain: a diagnosis of the state-of-the-art," pp. 1–158, 2005, [Online]. Available: http://dspace.mit.edu/handle/1721.1/33354.
- [19] A. Buvailo, "Will Biologics Surpass Small Molecules In The Pharma Race ?," *BiopharmaTrend.com*, pp. 1–8, 2018, Accessed: Oct. 28, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.biopharmatrend.com/post/67-will-small-molecules-sustain-pharmaceutical-race-with-biologics/.
- [20] D. Kent, S. Rickwood, and S. Di Biase, "Disruption and maturity: The next phase of biologics," 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.iqvia.com/-/media/iqvia/pdfs/nemea/uk/disruption and maturity the next phase of biologics.pdf.
- [21] T. S. Harrington and T. A. Burge, "Connecting digital pharma and e-healthcare value networks through product-service design: A conceptual model," *Int. J. Electron. Healthc.*, vol. 10, no. 1–2, pp. 96–129, 2018, doi: 10.1504/IJEH.2018.092177.
- [22] B. Y. K. T. Adams and S. Editor, "Biologic Vaccines: A Panacea for Infectious Diseases?," *Biotechnol. Healthc.*, no. APRIL, pp. 12–20, 2009.
- [23] T. S. Harrington, J. S. Srai, and I. Najim, "Emerging product-process archetypes in oncology: Informing the sustainable provision of next-generation medicines," *Int. J. Healthc. Technol. Manag.*, vol. 17, no. 2– 3, pp. 97–127, 2018, doi: 10.1504/IJHTM.2018.098367.
- [24] "Overview | Suspected cancer: recognition and referral | Guidance | NICE." https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng12 (accessed Oct. 28, 2020).
- [25] O. Scheel, T. Wintermantel, and J. O'Keefe, "Unleashing Pharma from the R & D Value Chain Executive Summary," ATKearney, p. 16, 2013, Accessed: Oct. 28, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.scribd.com/document/341669680/Unleashing-Pharma.
- [26] KPMG, "Future Pharma: Five Strategies to Accelerate the Transformation of the Pharmaceutical Industry by 2020," *Transformation*. p. 40, 2011, Accessed: Oct. 28, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.pharma-iq.com/market-access/whitepapers/future-pharma-five-strategies-accelerate-transformation-pharmaceutical.
- [27] K. Konstantinov and M. A. Waban, "INTEGRATED CONTINUOUS MANUFACTURING OF THERAPEUTC PROTEIN DRUG SUBSTANCES Applicant: Genzyme Corporation, Cambridge, MA (US," Sep. 2014.
- [28] K. Fitch, K. Iwasaki, and B. Pyenson, "Parity for Oral and Intravenous/Injected Cancer Drugs," *Milliman Client Rep.*, p. 20, 2010.
- [29] J. Rantanen and J. Khinast, "The Future of Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Sciences," *J. Pharm. Sci.*, vol. 104, no. 11, pp. 3612–3638, 2015, doi: 10.1002/jps.24594.
- [30] T. S. Harrington, M. A. Phillips, and J. S. Srai, "Reconfiguring global pharmaceutical value networks through targeted technology interventions," *Int. J. Prod. Res.*, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 1471–1487, 2017, doi: 10.1080/00207543.2016.1221541.
- [31] W. Phillips, N. Medcalf, K. Dalgarno, H. Makatoris, and ..., "Redistributed manufacturing in healthcare: Creating new value through disruptive innovation," 2020, [Online]. Available: https://uwerepository.worktribe.com/output/999236.
- [32] N. Sandler and P. Ihalainen, "Perspectives of Printing Technologies," in *Continuous Manufacturing ofPharmaceuticals, First Edition.*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., 2017, pp. 525–550.
- [33] B. Hargreaves, "Sanofi opens digitally-enabled continuous manufacturing site." https://www.biopharmareporter.com/Article/2019/10/16/Sanofi-opens-digitally-enabled-continuous-manufacturingsite?utm_source=copyright&utm_medium=OnSite&utm_campaign=copyright (accessed Nov. 02, 2020).
- [34] Sanofi, "Factory of the Future," Apr. 2020. https://www.sanofi.com/en/about-us/our-stories/sanofi-takesa-step-into-the-future-of-making-medicine (accessed Nov. 02, 2020).
- [35] J. S. Srai, T. Harrington, L. Alinaghian, and M. Phillips, "Evaluating the potential for the continuous processing of pharmaceutical products-a supply network perspective," *Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif.*, vol. 97, pp. 248–258, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.cep.2015.07.018.
- [36] D. J. Ripin, D. Jamieson, A. Meyers, U. Warty, M. Dain, and C. Khamsi, "Antiretroviral procurement and supply chain management," *Antivir. Ther.*, vol. 19, pp. 79–89, 2014, doi: 10.3851/IMP2903.
- [37] A. Gu, A. I. Wertheimer, B. Brown, and F. T. Shaya, "Drug Shortages in the US Causes, Impact, and Strategies," *Inov. Pharm.*, vol. 2, no. 4, 2011, doi: 10.24926/iip.v2i4.243.
- [38] L. P. Garrison, "Rewarding Value Creation to Promote Innovation in Oncology: The Importance of Considering the Global Product Life Cycle," *Oncologist*, vol. 15, no. S1, pp. 49–57, 2010, doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2010-s1-49.
- [39] E. Wolff-Holz, K. Tiitso, C. Vleminckx, and M. Weise, "Evolution of the EU Biosimilar Framework: Past and Future," *BioDrugs*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 621–634, 2019, doi: 10.1007/s40259-019-00377-y.
- [40] S. S. Farid, "Integrated Continuous Biomanufacturing: Industrialization on the Horizon," Biotechnol. J.,

vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 3-5, 2019, doi: 10.1002/biot.201800722.

- [41] M. Jiang *et al.*, "Opportunities and challenges of real-time release testing in biopharmaceutical manufacturing," *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, vol. 114, no. 11, pp. 2445–2456, 2017, doi: 10.1002/bit.26383.
- [42] W. Van Dyck, J. De Grève, R. Schots, A. Awada, and T. Geldof, "Future of Access to Innovative Medicines in Oncology: Towards Conditional Dialogue Fostering Affordable Therapeutic Innovation," 2016.
- [43] J. Zhu, "Mammalian cell protein expression for biopharmaceutical production," *Biotechnol. Adv.*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 1158–1170, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.08.022.
- [44] European Medicines Agency, "ICH Topic Q 5 D Quality of Biotechnological Products: Derivation and Characterisation of Cell Substrates Used for Production of Biotechnological/Biological Products," 1998.
 [Online]. Available:

http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/%5Cnhttp://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/es_ES/document_library/EPAR/.

- [45] Food and Drug Authority, "Points to Consider in the Manufacture and Testing of Monoclonal Antibody Products for Human Use," 1997.
- [46] European Medicines Agency, "Guideline on development, production, characterisation and specification for monoclonal antibodies and related products Guideline on development, production, characterisation and specification for monoclonal antibodies and related products Table of co," *EMA Sci. Guidel.*, vol. 44, no. July, 2016, doi: EMEA/CHMP/BWP/157653/2007.
- [47] J. T. Welch and N. S. Arden, "Considering 'clonality': A regulatory perspective on the importance of the clonal derivation of mammalian cell banks in biopharmaceutical development," *Biologicals*, vol. 62, no. July, pp. 16–21, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.biologicals.2019.09.006.
- [48] M. Yim and D. Shaw, "Achieving greater efficiency and higher confidence in single-cell cloning by combining cell printing and plate imaging technologies," *Biotechnol. Prog.*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 1454–1459, 2018, doi: 10.1002/btpr.2698.
- [49] B. Lorber, W.-K. Hsiao, I. M. Hutchings, and K. R. Martin, "Adult rat retinal ganglion cells and glia can be printed by piezoelectric inkjet printing," *Biofabrication*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 015001, 2013, doi: 10.1088/1758-5082/6/1/015001.
- [50] R. Chang, J. Nam, and W. Sun, "Effects of Dispensing Pressure and Nozzle Diameter on Cell Survival from Solid Freeform Fabrication–Based Direct Cell Writing," *Tissue Eng. Part A*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 41–48, 2008, doi: 10.1089/ten.a.2007.0004.
- [51] X. Cui, D. Dean, Z. M. Ruggeri, and T. Boland, "Cell damage evaluation of thermal inkjet printed chinese hamster ovary cells," *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, vol. 106, no. 6, pp. 963–969, 2010, doi: 10.1002/bit.22762.
- [52] V. Ferrara *et al.*, "Aqueous Processed Biopolymer Interfaces for Single-Cell Microarrays," *ACS Biomater*. *Sci. Eng.*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 3174–3186, 2020, doi: 10.1021/acsbiomaterials.9b01871.
- [53] Y. Sun, W. Song, X. Sun, and S. Zhang, "Inkjet-Printing Patterned Chip on Sticky Superhydrophobic Surface for High-Efficiency Single-Cell Array Trapping and Real-Time Observation of Cellular Apoptosis," ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, vol. 10, no. 37, pp. 31054–31060, 2018, doi: 10.1021/acsami.8b10703.
- [54] T. Morrow and L. H. Felcone, "Defining the difference: What Makes Biologics Unique.," *Biotechnol. Healthc.*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 24–9, 2004, [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23393437%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fc gi?artid=PMC3564302.
- [55] I. M. Hutchings and G. D. Martin, "Inkjet Technology for Digital Fabrication," in *Inkjet Technology for Digital Fabrication*, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 2012, pp. 21–44.
- [56] I. T. Ozbolat and M. Hospodiuk, "Current advances and future perspectives in extrusion-based bioprinting," *Biomaterials*, vol. 76, pp. 321–343, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.10.076.
- [57] S. Di Risio and N. Yan, "Piezoelectric ink-jet printing of horseradish peroxidase: Effect of ink viscosity modifiers on activity," *Macromol. Rapid Commun.*, vol. 28, no. 18–19, pp. 1934–1940, 2007, doi: 10.1002/marc.200700226.
- [58] M. T. Inc., "Low Temperature Dispensing Devices MJ-A Product Description." Accessed: Jan. 04, 2020. [Online]. Available: www.microfab.com.
- [59] C. C. Chang, E. D. Boland, S. K. Williams, and J. B. Hoying, "Direct-write bioprinting three-dimensional biohybrid systems for future regenerative therapies," *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. - Part B Appl. Biomater.*, vol. 98 B, no. 1, pp. 160–170, 2011, doi: 10.1002/jbm.b.31831.
- [60] S. Pira, "Future of Inkjet Printing." https://www8.hp.com/h20195/v2/GetPDF.aspx/4AA7-4499EEE.pdf (accessed Mar. 13, 2020).
- [61] B. W. Jo, A. Lee, K. H. Ahn, and S. J. Lee, "Evaluation of jet performance in drop-on-demand (DOD) inkjet printing," *Korean J. Chem. Eng.*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 339–348, 2009, doi: 10.1007/s11814-009-0057-2.
- [62] J. M. C. Editor, *3D Bioprinting*. 2017.

- [63] I. FUJIFILM Dimatix, "Dimatix Materials Printer DMP-2800 Series User Manual," *FUJIFILM Dimatix*, pp. 1–93, 2006.
- [64] K. H. Kang, L. A. Hockaday, and J. T. Butcher, "Quantitative optimization of solid freeform deposition of aqueous hydrogels," *Biofabrication*, vol. 5, no. 3, 2013, doi: 10.1088/1758-5082/5/3/035001.
- [65] H. Wijshoff, "The dynamics of the piezo inkjet printhead operation," *Phys. Rep.*, vol. 491, no. 4–5, pp. 77–177, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.physrep.2010.03.003.
- [66] N. Jones, "Science in three dimensions: The print revolution," *Nature*, vol. 487, no. 7405, pp. 22–23, 2012, doi: 10.1038/487022a.
- [67] "The Top 10 Bioprinters 3D Printing Industry." https://3dprintingindustry.com/news/top-10-bioprinters-55699/ (accessed Dec. 16, 2020).
- [68] L. Silverman, R. Campbell, and J. R. Broach, "New assay technologies for high-throughput screening," *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 397–403, 1998, doi: 10.1016/S1367-5931(98)80015-X.
- [69] S. A. Langhans, "Three-dimensional in vitro cell culture models in drug discovery and drug repositioning," *Front. Pharmacol.*, vol. 9, no. JAN, pp. 1–14, 2018, doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00006.
- [70] M. Rimann and U. Graf-Hausner, "Synthetic 3D multicellular systems for drug development," *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 803–809, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2012.01.011.
- [71] R. Kostadinova *et al.*, "A long-term three dimensional liver co-culture system for improved prediction of clinically relevant drug-induced hepatotoxicity," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.*, vol. 268, no. 1, pp. 1–16, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2013.01.012.
- [72] D. Yoon No, K. H. Lee, J. Lee, and S. H. Lee, "3D liver models on a microplatform: well-defined culture, engineering of liver tissue and liver-on-a-chip," *Lab Chip*, vol. 15, no. 19, pp. 3822–3837, 2015, doi: 10.1039/c5lc00611b.
- [73] W. Peng, P. Datta, B. Ayan, V. Ozbolat, D. Sosnoski, and I. T. Ozbolat, "3D bioprinting for drug discovery and development in pharmaceutics," *Acta Biomater.*, vol. 57, pp. 26–46, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2017.05.025.
- [74] J. Mestre-ferrandiz, J. Sussex, and A. Towse, *The R & D Cost of a New Medicine*. 2012.
- [75] J. I. Rodríguez-Dévora, B. Zhang, D. Reyna, Z. Shi, and T. Xu, "High throughput miniature drugscreening platform using bioprinting technology," *Biofabrication*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 1–8, 2012, doi: 10.1088/1758-5082/4/3/035001.
- [76] J. Lee, A. A. S. Samson, and J. M. Song, "Inkjet-printing enzyme inhibitory assay based on determination of ejection volume," *Anal. Chem.*, p. acs.analchem.6b04585, 2016, doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.6b04585.
- [77] M. Choi, J. Hwang, J. Choi, and J. Hong, "Multicomponent High-throughput Drug Screening via Inkjet Printing to Verify the Effect of Immunosuppressive Drugs on Immune T Lymphocytes," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 6318, 2017, doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-06690-2.
- [78] "sciFLEXARRAYER," 2017. http://www.scienion.com/products/sciflexarrayer/ (accessed Jul. 19, 2017).
- [79] "Microarray Printer Specifications | Arrayjet." https://www.arrayjet.co.uk/instruments/printers-in-detail (accessed Jul. 19, 2017).
- [80] L. Berrade, A. E. Garcia, and J. A. Camarero, "Protein microarrays: Novel developments and applications," *Pharm. Res.*, vol. 28, no. 7, pp. 1480–1499, 2011, doi: 10.1007/s11095-010-0325-1.
- [81] A. Mahle, N. Dashaputre, P. DeShong, and D. C. Stein, "Catanionic Surfactant Vesicles as a New Platform for Probing Glycan–Protein Interactions," *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, vol. 28, no. 13, pp. 1–9, 2018, doi: 10.1002/adfm.201706215.
- [82] I. McWilliam and and D. H. Marisa Chong Kwan, "Inkjet Printing for the Production of Protein Microarrays," in *Methods and Protocols, Methods in Molecular Biology*, vol. 785, no. 1, 2011, pp. 363– 78.
- [83] G. Arrabito and B. Pignataro, "Letters to Analytical Chemistry Inkjet Printing Methodologies for Drug Screening," vol. 82, no. 8, pp. 3104–3107, 2010.
- [84] P. P. and M. B. A. Roda, M. Guardigli, C. Russo, "Protein Microdeposition Using a Conventional Inkjet Printer," *Biotechniques*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 492–496, 2000.
- [85] L. Zhou, N. Xu, Y. Sun, and X. M. Liu, "Targeted biopharmaceuticals for cancer treatment," *Cancer Lett.*, vol. 352, no. 2, pp. 145–151, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2014.06.020.
- [86] J. M. Grolman, D. Zhang, A. M. Smith, J. S. Moore, and K. A. Kilian, "Rapid 3D Extrusion of Synthetic Tumor Microenvironments," Adv. Mater., vol. 27, no. 37, pp. 5512–5517, 2015, doi: 10.1002/adma.201501729.
- [87] K. Ling *et al.*, "Bioprinting-Based High-Throughput Fabrication of Three-Dimensional MCF-7 Human Breast Cancer Cellular Spheroids," *Engineering*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 269–274, 2015, doi: 10.15302/J-ENG-2015062.
- [88] Y. Zhao *et al.*, "Three-dimensional printing of Hela cells for cervical tumor model in vitro," *Biofabrication*, vol. 6, no. 3, 2014, doi: 10.1088/1758-5082/6/3/035001.
- [89] K. Dubbin, Y. Hori, K. K. Lewis, and S. C. Heilshorn, "Dual-Stage Crosslinking of a Gel-Phase Bioink

Improves Cell Viability and Homogeneity for 3D Bioprinting," *Adv. Healthc. Mater.*, vol. 5, no. 19, pp. 2488–2492, 2016, doi: 10.1002/adhm.201600636.

- [90] E. T. Verjans, J. Doijen, W. Luyten, B. Landuyt, and L. Schoofs, "Three-dimensional cell culture models for anticancer drug screening: Worth the effort?," J. Cell. Physiol., vol. 233, no. 4, pp. 2993–3003, 2018, doi: 10.1002/jcp.26052.
- [91] S. Breslin and L. O'Driscoll, "Three-dimensional cell culture: The missing link in drug discovery," Drug Discov. Today, vol. 18, no. 5–6, pp. 240–249, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2012.10.003.
- [92] J. A. Hickman *et al.*, "Three-dimensional models of cancer for pharmacology and cancer cell biology: Capturing tumor complexity in vitro/ex vivo," *Biotechnol. J.*, vol. 9, no. 9, pp. 1115–1128, 2014, doi: 10.1002/biot.201300492.
- [93] M. E. Krause and E. Sahin, "Chemical and physical instabilities in manufacturing and storage of therapeutic proteins," *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, vol. 60, pp. 159–167, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2019.01.014.
- [94] J. L. Reubsaet, J. H. Beijnen, a Bult, R. J. van Maanen, J. a Marchal, and W. J. Underberg, "Analytical techniques used to study the degradation of proteins and peptides: chemical instability.," J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., vol. 17, no. 6–7, pp. 955–978, 1998, doi: 10.1016/S0731-7085(98)00063-6.
- [95] C. V. Spain, J. J. Wright, R. M. Hahn, A. Wivel, and A. A. Martin, "Self-reported Barriers to Adherence and Persistence to Treatment With Injectable Medications for Type 2 Diabetes," *Clin. Ther.*, vol. 38, no. 7, pp. 1653-1664.e1, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2016.05.009.
- [96] S. Mitragotri, P. A. Burke, and R. Langer, "Overcoming the challenges in administering biopharmaceuticals: formulation and delivery strategies," *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.*, vol. 13, no. 9, pp. 655– 672, 2014, doi: 10.1038/nrd4363.
- [97] D. P. Wermeling *et al.*, "Microneedles permit transdermal delivery of a skin-impermeant medication to humans," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 105, no. 6, pp. 2058–2063, 2008, doi: 10.1073/pnas.0710355105.
- [98] R. Jamaledin *et al.*, "Progress in Microneedle-Mediated Protein Delivery," *J. Clin. Med.*, vol. 9, no. 2, p. 542, 2020, doi: 10.3390/jcm9020542.
- [99] S. P. Sullivan, N. Murthy, and M. R. Prausnitz, "Minimally invasive protein delivery with rapidly dissolving polymer microneedles," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 933–938, 2008, doi: 10.1002/adma.200701205.
- [100] M. J. Kim *et al.*, "Fabrication of circular obelisk-type multilayer microneedles using micro-milling and spray deposition," *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.*, vol. 6, no. MAY, pp. 1–13, 2018, doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2018.00054.
- [101] N. Wilke, A. Mulcahy, S. R. Ye, and A. Morrissey, "Process optimization and characterization of silicon microneedles fabricated by wet etch technology," *Microelectronics J.*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 650–656, 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.mejo.2005.04.044.
- [102] S. M. Bal *et al.*, "Influence of microneedle shape on the transport of a fluorescent dye into human skin in vivo," *J. Control. Release*, vol. 147, no. 2, pp. 218–224, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.07.104.
- [103] K. J. Krieger, N. Bertollo, M. Dangol, J. T. Sheridan, M. M. Lowery, and E. D. O'Cearbhaill, "Simple and customizable method for fabrication of high-aspect ratio microneedle molds using low-cost 3D printing," *Microsystems Nanoeng.*, vol. 5, no. 1, 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41378-019-0088-8.
- [104] A. R. Johnson and A. T. Procopio, "Low cost additive manufacturing of microneedle masters," 3D Print. Med., vol. 5, no. 1, p. 2, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1186/s41205-019-0039-x.
- [105] M. A. Lopez-Ramirez et al., "Built-In Active Microneedle Patch with Enhanced Autonomous Drug Delivery," Adv. Mater., vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2020, doi: 10.1002/adma.201905740.
- [106] C. Yeung *et al.*, "A 3D-printed microfluidic-enabled hollow microneedle architecture for transdermal drug delivery," *Biomicrofluidics*, vol. 13, no. 6, 2019, doi: 10.1063/1.5127778.
- [107] S. Ross, N. Scoutaris, D. Lamprou, D. Mallinson, and D. Douroumis, "Inkjet printing of insulin microneedles for transdermal delivery," *Drug Deliv. Transl. Res.*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 451–461, 2015, doi: 10.1007/s13346-015-0251-1.
- [108] S. N. Economidou *et al.*, "3D printed microneedle patches using stereolithography (SLA)for intradermal insulin delivery," *Mater. Sci. Eng. C*, vol. 102, no. March, pp. 743–755, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.msec.2019.04.063.
- [109] E. A. Allen, C. O'Mahony, M. Cronin, T. O'Mahony, A. C. Moore, and A. M. Crean, "Dissolvable microneedle fabrication using piezoelectric dispensing technology," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 500, no. 1–2, pp. 1–10, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.12.052.
- [110] S. Fakhraei Lahiji *et al.*, "Effects of dissolving microneedle fabrication parameters on the activity of encapsulated lysozyme," *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.*, vol. 117, no. October 2017, pp. 290–296, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2018.03.003.
- [111] J. T. Schiele, R. Quinzler, H. D. Klimm, M. G. Pruszydlo, and W. E. Haefeli, "Difficulties swallowing

solid oral dosage forms in a general practice population: Prevalence, causes, and relationship to dosage forms," *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, vol. 69, no. 4, pp. 937–948, 2013, doi: 10.1007/s00228-012-1417-0.

- [112] A. F. Borges, C. Silva, J. F. J. Coelho, and S. Simões, "Oral films: Current status and future perspectives: I-Galenical development and quality attributes," J. Control. Release, vol. 206, pp. 1–19, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.03.006.
- [113] A. B. M. Buanz, C. C. Belaunde, N. Soutari, C. Tuleu, M. O. Gul, and S. Gaisford, "Ink-jet printing versus solvent casting to prepare oral films: Effect on mechanical properties and physical stability," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 494, no. 2, pp. 611–618, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.12.032.
- [114] J. O. Morales, S. Huang, R. O. Williams, and J. T. McConville, "Films loaded with insulin-coated nanoparticles (ICNP) as potential platforms for peptide buccal delivery," *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces*, vol. 122, pp. 38–45, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2014.05.025.
- [115] Y. Tian, J. C. Visser, J. S. Klever, H. J. Woerdenbag, H. W. Frijlink, and W. L. J. Hinrichs, "Orodispersible films based on blends of trehalose and pullulan for protein delivery," *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, vol. 133, no. May, pp. 104–111, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2018.09.016.
- [116] M. Montenegro-Nicolini *et al.*, "The Effect of Inkjet Printing over Polymeric Films as Potential Buccal Biologics Delivery Systems," *AAPS PharmSciTech*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 3376–3387, 2018, doi: 10.1208/s12249-018-1105-1.
- [117] M. Montenegro-Nicolini, Miranda, and J. O. Morales, "Inkjet Printing of Proteins: an Experimental Approach," *AAPS J.*, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 234–243, 2016, doi: 10.1208/s12248-016-9997-8.
- [118] R. P. Gala *et al.*, "Physicochemical and Preclinical Evaluation of a Novel Buccal Measles Vaccine," *AAPS PharmSciTech*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 283–292, 2017, doi: 10.1208/s12249-016-0566-3.
- [119] X. H. Zhou and A. L. W. Po, "Peptide and protein drugs: II. Non-parenteral routes of delivery," Int. J. Pharm., vol. 75, no. 2–3, pp. 117–130, 1991, doi: 10.1016/0378-5173(91)90185-Q.
- [120] I. B. Halberg, K. Lyby, K. Wassermann, T. Heise, E. Zijlstra, and L. Plum-Mörschel, "Efficacy and safety of oral basal insulin versus subcutaneous insulin glargine in type 2 diabetes: a randomised, double-blind, phase 2 trial," *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 179–188, Mar. 2019, doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30372-3.
- [121] S. J. Trenfield, A. Awad, A. Goyanes, S. Gaisford, and A. W. Basit, "3D Printing Pharmaceuticals: Drug Development to Frontline Care," *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 440–451, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2018.02.006.
- [122] A. Goyanes, A. B. M. Buanz, A. W. Basit, and S. Gaisford, "Fused-filament 3D printing (3DP) for fabrication of tablets," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 476, no. 1, pp. 88–92, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.09.044.
- [123] E. A. Clark *et al.*, "3D printing of tablets using inkjet with UV photoinitiation," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 529, no. 1–2, pp. 523–530, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.06.085.
- [124] S. A. Khaled, J. C. Burley, M. R. Alexander, and C. J. Roberts, "Desktop 3D printing of controlled release pharmaceutical bilayer tablets," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 461, no. 1–2, pp. 105–111, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.11.021.
- [125] N. Sandler and M. Preis, "Printed Drug-Delivery Systems for Improved Patient Treatment," *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 1070–1080, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2016.10.002.
- [126] "ZipDose Technology | Spritam | Aprecia." https://www.aprecia.com/technology/zipdose (accessed Aug. 03, 2020).
- [127] A. Goyanes, M. Scarpa, M. Kamlow, S. Gaisford, A. W. Basit, and M. Orlu, "Patient acceptability of 3D printed medicines," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 530, no. 1–2, pp. 71–78, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.07.064.
- [128] P. Januskaite *et al.*, "I spy with my little eye: A paediatric visual preferences survey of 3d printed tablets," *Pharmaceutics*, vol. 12, no. 11, pp. 1–16, 2020, doi: 10.3390/pharmaceutics12111100.
- [129] M. Rautamo, K. Kvarnström, M. Sivén, M. Airaksinen, P. Lahdenne, and N. Sandler, "Benefits and prerequisites associated with the adoption of oral 3D-printed medicines for pediatric patients: A focus group study among healthcare professionals," *Pharmaceutics*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 1–11, 2020, doi: 10.3390/pharmaceutics12030229.
- [130] A. N. Zelikin, C. Ehrhardt, and A. M. Healy, "Materials and methods for delivery of biological drugs," *Nat. Chem.*, vol. 8, no. 11, pp. 997–1007, 2016, doi: 10.1038/nchem.2629.
- [131] C. L. Nemeth, W. R. Lykins, H. Tran, M. E. H. ElSayed, and T. A. Desai, "Bottom-Up Fabrication of Multilayer Enteric Devices for the Oral Delivery of Peptides," *Pharm. Res.*, vol. 36, no. 6, 2019, doi: 10.1007/s11095-019-2618-3.
- [132] T. Croitoru-Sadger, B. Mizrahi, S. Yogev, and A. Shabtay-Orbach, "Two-component cross-linkable gels for fabrication of solid oral dosage forms," *J. Control. Release*, vol. 303, no. April, pp. 274–280, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.04.021.
- [133] C. P. P. Pere et al., "3D printed microneedles for insulin skin delivery," Int. J. Pharm., vol. 544, no. 2,

pp. 425–432, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.03.031.

- [134] H. Suzuki, T. Moritani, T. Morinaga, Y. Seto, H. Sato, and S. Onoue, "Amorphous solid dispersion of cyclosporine A prepared with fine droplet drying process: Physicochemical and pharmacokinetic characterization," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 519, no. 1–2, pp. 213–219, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.01.018.
- [135] I. B. Bekard, P. Asimakis, J. Bertolini, and D. E. Dunstan, "The effects of shear flow on protein structure and function.," *Biopolymers*, vol. 95, no. 11, pp. 733–45, 2011, doi: 10.1002/bip.21646.
- [136] C. Baldauf *et al.*, "Shear-induced unfolding activates von Willebrand factor A2 domain for proteolysis," *J. Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 2096–2105, 2009, doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2009.03640.x.
- [137] C. E. Sing, L. Schmid, M. F. Schneider, T. Franke, and A. Alexander-Katza, "Controlled surface-induced flows from the motion of self-assembled colloidal walkers," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 535–540, 2010, doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906489107.
- [138] V. Foderá, S. Pagliara, O. Otto, U. F. Keyser, and A. M. Donald, "Microfluidics reveals a flow-induced large-scale polymorphism of protein aggregates," J. Phys. Chem. Lett., vol. 3, no. 19, pp. 2803–2807, 2012, doi: 10.1021/jz301375d.
- [139] E. K. Hill, B. Krebs, D. G. Goodall, G. J. Howlett, and D. E. Dunstan, "Shear flow induces amyloid fibril formation," *Biomacromolecules*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 10–13, 2006, doi: 10.1021/bm0505078.
- [140] L. G. Sharma and L. M. Pandey, "Shear-induced aggregation of amyloid β (1–40) in a parallel plate geometry," J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn., vol. 0, no. 0, pp. 1–9, 2020, doi: 10.1080/07391102.2020.1798814.
- [141] M. Frydrych, A. Greenhalgh, and F. Vollrath, "Artificial spinning of natural silk threads," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-51589-9.
- [142] N. Kronqvist *et al.*, "Efficient protein production inspired by how spiders make silk," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 8, no. May, 2017, doi: 10.1038/ncomms15504.
- [143] W. Wang, "Protein aggregation and its inhibition in biopharmaceutics," Int. J. Pharm., vol. 289, no. 1–2, pp. 1–30, 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2004.11.014.
- [144] Y. Le Basle, P. Chennell, N. Tokhadze, A. Astier, and V. Sautou, "Physicochemical Stability of Monoclonal Antibodies: A Review," J. Pharm. Sci., vol. 109, no. 1, pp. 169–190, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.xphs.2019.08.009.
- [145] F. Grigolato and P. Arosio, "Synergistic effects of flow and interfaces on antibody aggregation," *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, vol. 117, no. 2, pp. 417–428, 2020, doi: 10.1002/bit.27212.
- [146] L. F. Willis et al., "Using extensional flow to reveal diverse aggregation landscapes for three IgG1 molecules," *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, vol. 115, no. 5, pp. 1216–1225, 2018, doi: 10.1002/bit.26543.
- [147] S. Wolfrum, U. Weichsel, M. Siedler, C. Weber, and W. Peukert, "Monitoring of Flow-Induced Aggregation and Conformational Change of Monoclonal Antibodies," *Chemie-Ingenieur-Technik*, vol. 89, no. 8, pp. 987–994, 2017, doi: 10.1002/cite.201600161.
- [148] J. Dobson *et al.*, "Inducing protein aggregation by extensional flow.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 114, no. 18, pp. 4673–4678, May 2017, doi: 10.1073/pnas.1702724114.
- [149] H. Hosseini, A. Rangchian, M. L. Prins, C. C. Giza, J. W. Ruberti, and H. P. Kavehpour, "Probing Flow-Induced Biomolecular Interactions With Micro-Extensional Rheology: Tau Protein Aggregation," J. Biomech. Eng., vol. 142, no. 3, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1115/1.4046330.
- [150] S. Charm and B. Wong, "Enzyme Inactivation with Shearing," *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, vol. 12, pp. 1103–1109, 1970.
- [151] R. W. Lencki, A. Tecante, and L. Choplin, "Effect of shear on the inactivation kinetics of the enzyme dextransucrase," *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, vol. 42, no. 9, pp. 1061–1067, Nov. 1993, doi: 10.1002/bit.260420907.
- [152] C. Ouyang and R. Barati, "Effect of shear rate on the activity of enzymes used in hydraulic fracture cleanup of tight unconventional reservoirs," *Int. J. Oil, Gas Coal Technol.*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 363–374, 2014, doi: 10.1504/IJOGCT.2014.062175.
- [153] P. J. B. Edwards, M. Kakubayashi, R. Dykstra, S. M. Pascals, and M. A. K. Williams, "Rheo-NMR studies of an enzymatic reaction: Evidence of a shear-stable macromolecular system," *Biophys. J.*, vol. 98, no. 9, pp. 1986–1994, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2010.01.022.
- [154] M. Ohno, J. P. Cooke, V. J. Dzau, and G. H. Gibbons, "Fluid Shear Stress Induces Endothelial Transforming Growth Factor Beta-1 Transcription and Production: Modulation by Potassium Channel Blockade," J. Clin. Invest., vol. 95, no. 3, pp. 1363–1369, 1995, doi: 10.1172/JCI117787.
- [155] G. M. Nishioka, A. A. Markey, and C. K. Holloway, "Protein damage in drop-on-demand printers," J. Am. Chem. Soc., vol. 126, no. 50, pp. 16320–16321, 2004, doi: 10.1021/ja044539z.
- [156] T. T. Biswas, J. Yu, and V. A. Nierstrasz, "Effects of ink characteristics and piezo-electric inkjetting parameters on lysozyme activity," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-54723-9.
- [157] H. R. Reese and B. H. Zimm, "Fracture of polymer chains in extensional flow: Experiments with DNA,

and a molecular-dynamics simulation," J. Chem. Phys., vol. 92, no. 4, pp. 2650-2662, 1990, doi: 10.1063/1.457960.

- [158] L. Shui, J. G. Bomer, M. Jin, E. T. Carlen, and A. Van Den Berg, "Microfluidic DNA fragmentation for on-chip genomic analysis," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 22, no. 49, 2011, doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/22/49/494013.
- [159] E. J. Soares, "Review of mechanical degradation and de-aggregation of drag reducing polymers in turbulent flows," J. Nonnewton. Fluid Mech., vol. 276, no. February 2019, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jnnfm.2019.104225.
- [160] K. A-Alamry, K. Nixon, R. Hindley, J. A. Odel, and S. G. Yeates, "Flow-induced polymer degradation during ink-jet printing," *Macromol. Rapid Commun.*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 316–320, 2011, doi: 10.1002/marc.201000521.
- [161] C. McIlroy, O. G. Harlen, and N. F. Morrison, "Modelling the jetting of dilute polymer solutions in dropon-demand inkjet printing," J. Nonnewton. Fluid Mech., vol. 201, pp. 17–28, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.jnnfm.2013.05.007.
- [162] J. S. R. Wheeler, S. W. Reynolds, S. Lancaster, V. S. Romanguera, and S. G. Yeates, "Polymer degradation during continuous ink-jet printing," *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, vol. 105, no. 1, pp. 116–121, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2014.04.007.
- [163] S. A. Vanapalli, S. L. Ceccio, and M. J. Solomon, "Universal scaling for polymer chain scission in turbulence," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 103, no. 45, pp. 16660–16665, 2006, doi: 10.1073/pnas.0607933103.
- [164] N. Willis-Fox, E. Rognin, C. Baumann, T. A. Aljohani, R. Göstl, and R. Daly, "Going with the Flow: Tunable Flow-Induced Polymer Mechanochemistry," *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, vol. 30, no. 27, 2020, doi: 10.1002/adfm.202002372.
- [165] S. Garrepally, S. Jouenne, P. D. Olmsted, and F. Lequeux, "Scission of flexible polymers in contraction flow: Predicting the effects of multiple passages," J. Rheol. (N. Y. N. Y)., vol. 64, no. 3, pp. 601–614, 2020, doi: 10.1122/1.5127801.
- [166] J. A. Odell and A. Keller, "Flow-induced chain fracture of isolated linear macromolecules in solution," J. Polym. Sci. Part B Polym. Phys., vol. 24, no. 9, pp. 1889–1916, Sep. 1986, doi: 10.1002/polb.1986.090240901.
- [167] I. B. Bekard, K. J. Barnham, L. R. White, and D. E. Dunstan, "alpha-Helix unfolding in simple shear flow," Soft Matter, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 203–210, 2011, doi: 10.1039/C0SM00692K.
- [168] D. J. Brockwell *et al.*, "Mechanically unfolding the small, topologically simple protein L," *Biophys. J.*, vol. 89, no. 1, pp. 506–519, 2005, doi: 10.1529/biophysj.105.061465.
- [169] P. Szymczak and M. Cieplak, "Stretching of proteins in a uniform flow," J. Chem. Phys., vol. 125, no. 16, p. 164903, Oct. 2006, doi: 10.1063/1.2358346.
- [170] P. Szymczak and M. Cieplak, "Proteins in a shear flow," J. Chem. Phys., vol. 127, no. 15, p. 155106, Oct. 2007, doi: 10.1063/1.2795725.
- [171] M. Han, J. Xu, Y. Ren, and J. Li, "Simulations of flow induced structural transition of the β-switch region of glycoprotein Iba," *Biophys. Chem.*, vol. 209, pp. 9–20, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.bpc.2015.11.002.
- [172] O. Languin-Cattoën, S. Melchionna, P. Derreumaux, G. Stirnemann, and F. Sterpone, "Three Weaknesses for Three Perturbations: Comparing Protein Unfolding under Shear, Force, and Thermal Stresses," J. Phys. Chem. B, vol. 122, no. 50, pp. 11922–11930, 2018, doi: 10.1021/acs.jpcb.8b08711.
- [173] E. Walinda, D. Morimoto, M. Shirakawa, U. Scheler, and K. Sugase, "Visualizing protein motion in Couette flow by all-atom molecular dynamics," *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Gen. Subj.*, vol. 1864, no. 2, p. 129383, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2019.06.006.
- [174] D. S. Wishart *et al.*, "DrugBank 5.0: A major update to the DrugBank database for 2018," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 46, no. D1, pp. D1074–D1082, Jan. 2018, doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx1037.
- [175] F. Poncin-Epaillard *et al.*, "Surface Treatment of Polymeric Materials Controlling the Adhesion of Biomolecules," *J. Funct. Biomater.*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 528–543, 2012, doi: 10.3390/jfb3030528.
- [176] J. B. Delehanty and F. S. Ligler, "Method for printing functional protein microarrays," *Biotechniques*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 380–385, 2003.
- [177] D. Beyer, W. Knoll, H. Ringsdorf, J. Wang, R. B. Timmons, and P. Sluka, "Reduced protein adsorption on plastics via direct plasma deposition of triethylene glycol monoallyl ether," *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 181–189, 1997, doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4636(199708)36:2<181::AID-JBM6>3.0.CO;2-G.
- [178] F. Poncin-Epaillard and G. Legeay, "Surface engineering of biomaterials with plasma techniques," J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed., vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 1005–1028, 2003, doi: 10.1163/156856203769231538.
- [179] M. A. Mensink, H. W. Frijlink, K. van der Voort Maarschalk, and W. L. J. Hinrichs, "How sugars protect proteins in the solid state and during drying (review): Mechanisms of stabilization in relation to stress conditions," *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, vol. 114, pp. 288–295, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2017.01.024.

- [180] S. D. Allison, T. W. Randolph, M. C. Manning, K. Middleton, A. Davis, and J. F. Carpenter, "Effect of Drying Method and Additives on Preservation of Actin: Mechanisms of Dehydration-Induced Damage and Its Inhibition," vol. 358, no. 1, pp. 171–181, 1998.
- [181] Dispendix, "https://dispendix.com/resources-support/#publications." .
- [182] "CELLINK has entered an agreement to acquire single-cell dispensing company cytena GmbH | BioSpace," 2020. https://www.cellink.com/cellink-has-entered-into-an-agreement-to-acquire-precisiondispensing-company-scienion-ag/ (accessed Nov. 16, 2020).
- [183] Scienion, "sciFLEXARRAYER." https://www.scienion.com/products/2598-2/ (accessed Nov. 20, 2020).
- [184] BioDot BioJet, "https://www.biodot.com/portfolio/biojet-ultra-picoliter-nanoliter-piezo-dispenser/."
- [185] BioDot, "RainmakerTM | BioDot." https://www.biodot.com/portfolio/rainmaker-high-speed-printing-ofpicoliter-to-nanoliter-drop-volumes/ (accessed Nov. 16, 2020).
- [186] Whattheythink.com, "https://whattheythink.com/news/19805-xaar-new-770-uv-ink-xj126-printhead-wide-format/.".
- [187] Arrayjet, "https://www.arrayjet.co.uk/instruments."
- [188] Scienion, "sciDROP PICO." https://www.scienion.com/technology/scidrop-pico-best-technology (accessed Nov. 16, 2020).
- [189] BioDot, "Products | BioDot." https://www.biodot.com/products/ (accessed Nov. 26, 2020).
- [190] Cellink-I-DOT, "https://www.cellink.com/global/liquid-handling-bioprocessing/i-dot/."
- [191] RICOH, "RICOH TH/MH/GH | Industrial Inkjet Printheads | Industrial Products | Ricoh." https://industry.ricoh.com/en/industrialinkjet/mh (accessed Nov. 16, 2020).
- [192] Xaar, "Xaar 5601." Accessed: Nov. 16, 2020. [Online]. Available: www.xaar.com.
- [193] X. Cui, T. Boland, D. D. D'Lima, and M. K. Lotz, "Thermal inkjet printing in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine.," *Recent Pat. Drug Deliv. Formul.*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 149–55, 2012, doi: 10.2174/187221112800672949.
- [194] HP, "HP Thermal Inkjet 2.5 Technology (TIJ) Family." Accessed: Nov. 26, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www8.hp.com/h20195/v2/GetPDF.aspx/4AA6-6483ENW.pdf.
- [195] R. E. Jones, W. Zheng, J. C. McKew, and C. Z. Chen, "An Alternative Direct Compound Dispensing Method Using the HP D300 Digital Dispenser," J. Lab. Autom., vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 367–374, 2013, doi: 10.1177/2211068213491094.
- [196] Tecan D300e Digital Dispenser, "https://lifesciences.tecan.com/products/liquid_handling_and_automation/tecan_d300e_digital_dispense r."
- [197] M. Alomari *et al.*, "Printing T3 and T4 oral drug combinations as a novel strategy for hypothyroidism," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 549, no. 1–2, pp. 363–369, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.07.062.
- [198] P. R. Vuddanda *et al.*, "Personalisation of warfarin therapy using thermal ink-jet printing," *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.*, vol. 117, no. September 2017, pp. 80–87, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2018.02.002.
- [199] L. Setti *et al.*, "Thermal inkjet technology for the microdeposition of biological molecules as a viable route for the realization of biosensors," *Anal. Lett.*, vol. 37, no. 8, pp. 1559–1570, 2004, doi: Doi 10.1081/Al-120037587.
- [200] J. Li, F. Rossignol, and J. Macdonald, "Inkjet printing for biosensor fabrication: combining chemistry and technology for advanced manufacturing," *Lab Chip*, vol. 15, no. 12, 2015, doi: 10.1039/C5LC00235D.
- [201] N. Komuro, S. Takaki, K. Suzuki, and D. Citterio, "Inkjet printed (bio)chemical sensing devices," *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, vol. 405, no. 17, pp. 5785–5805, 2013, doi: 10.1007/s00216-013-7013-z.
- [202] X. Cui and T. Boland, "Human microvasculature fabrication using thermal inkjet printing technology," *Biomaterials*, vol. 30, no. 31, pp. 6221–6227, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.07.056.
- [203] G. D. Martin, W. C. Price, and I. M. Hutchings, "Measurement of Inkjet Drop Volume—The Role of Image Processing," J. Imaging Sci. Technol., vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 404011–404019, 2016, doi: 10.2352/J.ImagingSci.Technol.2016.60.4.040401.
- [204] G. H. McKinley and M. Renardy, "Wolfgang von Ohnesorge," Phys. Fluids, vol. 23, no. 12, 2011, doi: 10.1063/1.3663616.
- [205] Y. Liu and B. Derby, "Experimental study of the parameters for stable drop-on-demand inkjet performance," *Phys. Fluids*, vol. 31, no. 3, 2019, doi: 10.1063/1.5085868.
- [206] A. Shome, S. Roy, and P. K. Das, "Nonionic surfactants: A key to enhance the enzyme activity at cationic reverse micellar interface," *Langmuir*, vol. 23, no. 8, pp. 4130–4136, 2007, doi: 10.1021/la062804j.
- [207] D. N. Rubingh, "The influence of surfactants on enzyme activity," *Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci.*, vol. 1, no. 5, pp. 598–603, 1996, doi: 10.1016/s1359-0294(96)80097-5.
- [208] D. E. Mitchell, A. E. R. Fayter, R. C. Deller, M. Hasan, J. Gutierrez-Marcos, and M. I. Gibson, "Icerecrystallization inhibiting polymers protect proteins against freeze-stress and enable glycerol-free cryostorage," *Mater. Horizons*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 364–368, 2019, doi: 10.1039/c8mh00727f.
- [209] A. G. M. Gregory Gillispie, Peter Prim, Joshua Copus, John Fisher and S. J. L. James J. Yoo, Anthony

Atala, "Assessment Methodologies for Extrusion-Based Bioink Printability," *Biofabrication*, vol. 176, no. 1, pp. 139–148, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.03.040.

Manuscript (with changes highlighted)

Click here to access/download **Supplementary Material** 24-02-21 Manuscript IJP Review (changes marked).docx



CRediT authorship contribution statement

Susannah Elizabeth Evans: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing - Original Draft, Review & Editing.

Tomás Harrington: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing - Original Draft

Maria Cristina Rodriguez-Rivero, Etienne Rognin, Tri Tuladhar: Investigation, Writing - Original Draft.

Ronan Daly: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing - Review & Editing, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition.

Declaration of interests

 \boxtimes The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

□The authors declare the following financial interests/personal relationships which may be considered as potential competing interests: